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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This is a direct appeal from a final judgment of the United States District 

Court for the Northern District of Indiana, South Bend Division, in a criminal 

case. A jury in the United States District Court for the Northern District of 

Indiana found Defendant-Appellant Rapheal Seay (“Seay”) guilty of one count of 

being a felon in possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). 

Dkt. 48; Dkt. 53 at 226–27; see Dkt. 67, A1–6.1 The district court sentenced 

Seay to 64 months in prison. Dkt. 67 at 1–2, A1–2.   

The district court entered its final judgment on January 14, 2021. Dkt. 

67, A1–6. Seay timely appealed his conviction to this Court on January 19, 

2021. Dkt. 69. 

The district court had jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3231. This Court has jurisdiction over this direct appeal, which appeals a 

final order or judgment that disposes of all of Seay’s claims, pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1291.  

This Court issued an Order on March 4, 2021, granting trial counsel’s 

motion to withdraw and appointing undersigned Counsel of Record to 

represent Seay in this appeal pursuant to the Criminal Justice Act. 7th Cir. 

Dkt. 6.  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether the district court erred in denying Seay’s motions to suppress 

1 Citations to “Dkt. __” are to the district court docket in the case below, United States 
v. Seay, No. 3:20-cr-00006-JD-MMG-1 (N.D. Ind.). Citations to “7th Cir. Dkt. __” are to 
this Court’s docket in this appeal, No. 21-1104. Citations to “A_” are to the required 
short appendix bound with this brief.  
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evidence in this case, because the officer conducting the stop of the car did not 

have personal knowledge giving rise to either reasonable suspicion or probable 

cause, and the record did not establish a sufficient chain of communication 

between officers to apply the collective knowledge doctrine. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On December 9, 2019, officers from the LaPorte County Sheriff’s 

Department searched Seay and the car he was driving, without a warrant and 

without his consent. According to officer testimony in the case, Seay was being 

surveilled by the LaPorte County Drug Task Force (“LCDTF”) for suspected drug 

possession and selling. Dkt. 17-1; 17-2; see Dkt. 30 at 1, A7. While surveilling 

Seay, two officers observed him allegedly fail to stop completely at two stop 

signs. Dkt. 30 at 2, A8. Those officers did not stop Seay. Instead, a different 

officer who had not participated in the surveillance and who had not observed 

the alleged traffic violations pulled Seay over a short time later. See id.; Dkt. 

17-3 at 1. 

The record in this case is unclear about what communications occurred 

between the time of the alleged traffic violations and the time of the traffic stop. 

In his contemporaneous police report and subsequent testimony in this case, 

the officer who conducted the stop offered three different and conflicting 

accounts of his basis for conducting the traffic stop. The other officers’ 

accounts similarly were different and conflicting. As a result, the record is 

unclear as to who said what to whom leading up to the traffic stop. 

Shortly after the traffic stop, multiple other officers arrived on the scene. 
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Dkt. 30 at 3, A9. Those officers conducted a dog sniff, Dkt. 30 at 3, A9; Dkt. 

17-4, patted down Seay and discovered marijuana, Dkt. 30 at 3, A9; Dkt. 17-2 

at 1, and searched the car and found a firearm. Dkt. 17-4 at 1; Dkt. 30 at 3, 

A9. Based on evidence uncovered in that search, Seay was indicted on one 

charge of being a felon in possession of a firearm. Dkt. 1. Seay sought to 

suppress all evidence obtained during and following the stop, arguing that the 

officer who made the stop illegally seized Seay without having probable cause 

or reasonable suspicion to do so.2 Seay now appeals the district court’s rulings 

that the seizure and searches in this case did not violate his rights under the 

Fourth Amendment. 

I. THE WARRANTLESS STOP AND SEARCH 

A. The Surveillance of Mr. Seay 

On December 9, 2019 around 4:00 p.m., members of the LCDTF began 

conducting surveillance on Seay because they suspected Seay of illegally 

possessing firearms and distributing illegal drugs.3 Dkt. 30 at 1, A7. At that 

time, Detectives Kyle Shiparski and Jim Fish were watching a residence in 

Michigan City, Indiana, from their unmarked car. Dkt. 26 at 9–10; Dkt. 30 at 

1–2, A7–8. They saw a “dark colored Nissan Altima, with tinted windows” that 

they believed was Seay’s car based on previous surveillance. Id.  

2 During the district court proceedings, Seay filed a motion to suppress the evidence. 
Dkt. 17. The court held an evidentiary hearing on this issue. Dkt. 26. Seay also 
repeatedly renewed the motion to suppress at trial. As discussed further below, the 
testimony referenced herein came in through the evidentiary hearing and at trial.
3 The LaPorte County Drug Task Force consists of members from the LaPorte County 
Sheriff’s Office, the LaPorte City Police Department, the Michigan City Police 
Department, and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives. See Dkt. 
26 at 7–8.
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Between 4:00 p.m. and 4:30 p.m., Shiparski and Fish saw the car come 

and go from the residence. Dkt. 26 at 9–10; Dkt. 17-1. Shiparski and Fish 

notified another officer, Detective Corporal Henderson, that Seay was driving. 

Dkt. 26 at 56. Henderson went out to follow Seay in hopes of observing him 

commit a traffic violation. Dkt. 26 at 56. No officer conducted a stop at this 

time. 

Instead, Seay’s car returned to the area that Shiparski and Fish were 

surveilling around 4:30 p.m. Dkt. 26 at 10. Shiparski and Fish saw Seay and 

one or two others get out of the car and walk up to a nearby house. Id.; Dkt. 

17-1 at 1. At 4:45 p.m., they saw Seay conduct what appeared to the officers to 

be a “hand-to-hand transaction” with the driver of another car. Dkt. 30 at 2, 

A8; see Dkt. 26 at 10. Shiparski suspected this was a drug transaction. Dkt. 

26 at 21–22; Dkt. 30 at 2, A8. 

Shiparski and Fish did not stop Seay. Shiparski testified at the 

evidentiary hearing in this case that he did not believe they had probable cause 

to stop Seay based on the suspected drug transaction. Dkt. 26 at 21–22. 

Instead, the officers’ plan since they began surveilling Seay was to pull him 

over for a traffic violation. Dkt. 52 at 39. Shiparski testified at trial that “[o]ur 

plan was to do surveillance in the area, and if we could gain probable cause to 

stop the vehicle through an infraction, or vehicles for that matter, then that’s 

what our plan was that day.” Id.  

Shiparski and Fish instead watched Seay get into the car and drive away. 

Dkt. 30 at 2, A8. As Seay drove away, Shiparski and Fish allegedly saw Seay 
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fail to come to a complete stop at two intersections. Id. Between fifteen and 

thirty minutes elapsed between the suspected hand-to-hand transaction and 

the alleged traffic violations. Dkt. 26 at 23–24. It is undisputed that Shiparski 

and Fish were the only officers who observed the alleged traffic violations. 

B. The Decision To Stop Mr. Seay 

It also is undisputed that another officer who did not conduct the 

surveillance or observe the alleged traffic violations—Officer Babcock—pulled 

over Seay’s car a few minutes after the alleged traffic violations. Dkt. 17-6; Dkt. 

52 at 47–48. But Babcock’s basis for making that stop is unclear from the 

record. As the district court stated in an order in this case, “it is not clear from 

the different individual police reports what information was conveyed by 

whom[.]” Dkt. 30 at 7, A13.   

Babcock stated under penalty of perjury in his police report that he 

stopped Seay based on information provided to him by Henderson. Dkt. 17-3 at 

1. In his police report, Babcock stated that Henderson told him that Henderson 

had “witnessed a black Nissan with dark tinted windows driving southbound” 

and “witnessed the vehicle commit multiple traffic infractions by failing to come 

to a complete stop at multiple intersections where a stop sign was posted.” Id.

Similarly, Officer Oberle, a K-9 officer who arrived on the scene of the 

stop shortly after Babcock, stated in his police report that Henderson contacted 

him “regarding a subject driving a black Nissan ... whom committed multiple 

traffic violations[.]” Dkt. 17-4 at 1. Neither Babcock’s nor Oberle’s reports 

mention that they were in communication with anyone other than Henderson. 
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See Dkts. 17-3; 17-4. These reports also do not mention either Shiparski or 

Fish. Id. Only Babcock’s and Oberle’s accounts were written on the day of 

Seay’s arrest; Henderson and Shiparski wrote their accounts later.4

The statements in Henderson’s and Shiparski’s police reports conflicted 

with the statements in Babcock’s and Oberle’s police reports, however. 

Henderson did not report telling Oberle or Babcock anything about the alleged 

traffic violations or instructing either of them to make a stop. Dkt. 17-2. Nor 

did Henderson state that he personally observed the alleged traffic violations or 

even knew about them prior to Babcock’s stop. Id. The only mention of the 

alleged traffic violations in Henderson’s report is a statement that “[i]t should 

be noted that several traffic infractions were committed by Seay which were 

observed by Det. J. Fish and Cpl. Shiparski of the LCDTF prior to Officer 

Babcock conducting the traffic stop.” Dkt. 17-2 at 1. Similarly, Shiparski did 

not report that he told Henderson about the traffic violations. See id.; Dkt. 17-

1. Shiparski stated in his police report that Shiparski “contacted Officer 

Babcock…notifying him of my observed traffic infraction.” Dkt. 17-1 at 1.  

C. The Traffic Stop 

A short time after the surveillance and the alleged traffic violations, 

Babcock left the police station and pulled over Seay’s car. Dkt. 30 at 2, A8; 

Dkt. 17-3 at 1. The officers agree that the stop was for the alleged traffic 

4 Babcock and Oberle created their reports on the day of the arrest at 6:21 p.m. and 
6:23 p.m. respectively. Dkt. 17-3; Dkt. 17-4. Henderson created his report the day 
after the arrest at 9:31 a.m., and Shiparski created his report four days later at 9:30 
a.m. Dkt. 17-2; Dkt. 17-1. 
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violations rather than for any suspected drug-related activity. See Dkt. 52 at 

39; see also Dkt. 17-1 at 1; Dkt. 17-2 at 1; Dkt. 17-3 at 1; Dkt. 17-4 at 1. Seay 

was driving the car. Dkt. 30 at 2–3, A8–9; Dkt. 17-3 at 1. After Babcock 

identified himself to Seay, Babcock explained that he stopped him “for rolling a 

couple stop signs on Elm.” Dkt. 30 at 3, A9. 

Henderson and Oberle arrived on the scene shortly after the stop to 

assist. Id. at 1–3, A7–9. While Babcock was completing a background check on 

Seay, Oberle walked around Seay’s vehicle with his K-9 partner. Id. at 3, A9. 

Oberle testified that, “[the K-9] walked around the driver’s side of the vehicle 

where I observed a change of behavior in the form of [the K-9] stopping at the 

driver’s door seam and his breathing becoming louder and faster.” Id. Oberle 

testified that this was one of the ways the K-9 makes a “passive alert” for 

drugs. Id.; see also Dkt. 26 at 74, 80-81. 

After being notified of the passive alert, Babcock asked Seay to step out 

of the vehicle. Dkt. 30 at 3, A9; Dkt. 17-3 at 1. Henderson patted down Seay 

and discovered a jar of marijuana in his pocket. Dkt. 30 at 3, A9; Dkt. 17-2 at 

1, 3. Oberle then searched the car and discovered a handgun and magazine. 

Dkt. 30 at 3, A9; Dkt. 17-4 at 1. Seay was taken to the police station and 

charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm and with possession of a 

controlled substance. See Dkt. 17-1 at 1; Dkt. 17-5. Seay waived his 

constitutional rights and confessed to possessing the marijuana and the 

handgun. Dkt. 30 at 4, A10.  

The police incident report states that the “Nature of Incident” was 
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“Firearms Regulation, Poss Of Marijuana, Traffic Arrest.” Dkt. 17-5. It states 

that the “Officers Involved” were Oberle, Henderson, and Babcock—and does 

not mention Shiparski or Fish. Id. Babcock also issued Seay tickets for the 

traffic violations later that evening. Dkt. 17-7 (showing the time of the traffic 

violations as “07:14 PM CST”). 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Based on the fruits of these searches, Seay was charged in the U.S. 

District Court for the Northern District of Indiana with one count of being a 

felon in possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). Dkt. 1. 

A. Motion to Suppress 

Seay filed a motion to suppress the evidence from the search of the 

vehicle and his resulting confession on February 13, 2020. Dkt. 17. In his 

motion, Seay argued that all evidence obtained during and after the search of 

his person and the motor vehicle was the direct fruit of an illegal, warrantless 

stop and seizure conducted by police officers, violating the Fourth Amendment. 

Id. Seay asserted that Babcock had neither probable cause nor reasonable 

suspicion to seize Seay or the vehicle he was driving. Id.  

As Seay explained in his motion, it was undisputed that Babcock did not 

personally observe Seay committing the alleged traffic violations. Seay argued 

in his motion to suppress and his reply in support that the government had 

failed to meet its burden of establishing that probable cause could be imputed 

to Babcock under the collective knowledge doctrine governed by United States 

v. Williams, 627 F.3d 247, 252 (7th Cir. 2010). Dkt. 17 at 12–16; Dkt. 20. 
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Babcock stated in his police report that Henderson told him that he had 

witnessed the traffic violations, and that Babcock made the stop in reliance on 

information provided to him by Henderson. Dkt. 17 at 14; see Dkt. 17-3 at 1. 

However, Henderson did not state in his police report that he had either 

witnessed the alleged traffic violations or been told about them prior to the 

stop. Id.; Dkt. 17-2. Nor did Henderson state in his police report that he had 

communicated anything about the alleged traffic violations to Babcock. See

Dkt. 17 at 14–15; Dkt. 17-2. Accordingly, Seay argued that Babcock could not 

rely on statements from another officer for probable cause that traffic violations 

had occurred, because the record did not establish that another officer had and 

conveyed probable cause. Dkt. 17 at 15–16. Seay argued that the seizure was 

thus unlawful and that all evidence resulting from it should be suppressed as 

“fruit of the poisonous tree.” Id. at 16.  

Seay further argued that Babcock lacked reasonable suspicion to seize 

Seay and the vehicle he was operating for the alleged hand-to-hand drug 

transaction that Shiparski claimed to have witnessed. Id. Neither Babcock nor 

Henderson had personally observed Seay conduct any suspected hand-to-hand 

drug transaction. Id. at 16-17. Only Shiparski claimed to have witnessed the 

alleged transaction. See id.; Dkt. 17-1 at 1. But neither Babcock nor 

Henderson stated in their police reports that they were apprised of the 

suspected hand-to-hand transaction prior to the initiation of the traffic stop. 

See Dkt. 17 at 17. Seay therefore argued that Babcock lacked reasonable 

suspicion under the collective knowledge doctrine to seize Seay, with the 
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resulting unlawful seizure requiring all evidence to be suppressed as the “fruit 

of the poisonous tree.” Id.  

B. Evidentiary Hearing 

The district court held an evidentiary hearing on July 22, 2020 

concerning Seay’s motion to suppress. Dkt. 22; Dkt. 26. At the hearing, the 

district court heard testimony from Shiparski, Henderson, Babcock, and 

Oberle. Dkt. 26. Seay did not testify at this hearing. Id.  

The officers changed their accounts at the evidentiary hearing. None of 

the officers’ police reports stated that they were in five-way communication the 

day of the stop and search. But at the evidentiary hearing, each officer testified 

that they were communicating simultaneously through radio and telephone 

following the alleged traffic violations. See Dkt. 30 at 2, A8. Specifically, the 

officers testified that Henderson was communicating over encrypted police 

radio with Shiparski and Fish. Id. at 7–8, 11–12, A13–14, 17–18. The officers 

testified that Oberle and Babcock could not access this encrypted radio 

channel, but instead were on a cell phone conference call at the same time that 

allowed them to hear the same radio communications that Shiparski and Fish 

could hear. Dkt. 26 at 25–26, 57. Babcock and Henderson further testified 

that, just prior to the traffic stop, Oberle and Babcock were staged at the 

Michigan City Police Station waiting to make a traffic stop. Dkt. 26 at 35-36, 

56-57. 

Babcock also changed his account of his basis for making the stop. At 

the evidentiary hearing, Babcock testified that “they”—not Henderson, as he 
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had said in his police report—told him about the suspected drug transaction 

and alleged traffic violations. Compare Dkt. 26 at 36–37 with Dkt. 17-3 at 1. He 

explained that he was “confused” about who “had actually viewed” the traffic 

violations because “we were all talking on the same line.” Dkt. 26 at 38. But 

Babcock admitted he knows Henderson’s voice because they work together 

often. Id. at 46, 51. Babcock did not revise or amend his police report, even 

though he could have filed a supplemental report. Id. at 45. 

At the evidentiary hearing, Henderson testified that he did not observe 

the alleged traffic violations, did not provide information about the alleged 

traffic violations to Babcock, and did not instruct Babcock to conduct the stop. 

Id. at 56–58. Shiparski testified that he observed the alleged traffic violations 

and instructed “Babcock and/or Oberle” to conduct the stop. Id. at 16. 

C. District Court Order 

The district court denied the motion to suppress. Dkt. 30, A6–19. In its 

written order, the district court acknowledged that it was “not clear from the 

different individual police reports what information was conveyed by whom[.]” 

Id. at 7, A13. Nonetheless, the district court held that it was not necessary that 

the record reflect a clear chain of communication as to who said what to whom. 

Rather, the district court found the officers’ testimony at the evidentiary 

hearing to be credible, and held that it was sufficient that the officers had 

testified that they were in communication with one another at the time of the 

stop. Id. at 8, 11, A14, A17. The district court thus held that the evidence 

across the team of officers involved in Seay’s surveillance and traffic stop was 
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sufficient in the aggregate to establish probable cause for Seay’s stop. Id. at 6–

7, A12–13.  

D. Jury Trial 

The case was tried before a jury on October 5 and October 6, 2020. Dkts. 

43; 46; 48; 52; 53. At trial, Seay again objected to the admission of the 

evidence and his confession on Fourth Amendment grounds. Dkt. 52 at 8–9, 

33–34, 48, 49–50, 90, 96, 114–16, 140, 144–45, 147, A21–36; Dkt. 53 at 175, 

189–97, A38–47. The court overruled each of these objections. Id. Relying on 

its earlier ruling on Seay’s motion to suppress, the district court found that the 

stop and searches were constitutional. See Dkt. 53 at 196–97, A46–47. 

Babcock’s account changed again when he testified at the trial in this 

case. Unlike in his police report and his evidentiary hearing testimony, 

Babcock did not testify that he made the stop based on information from 

Henderson or “they.” Rather, at trial, he testified for the first time that 

“Detective Shiparski notified us that he was observing a vehicle and he 

witnessed that vehicle commit several traffic infractions and asked me to 

initiate a traffic stop.” Dkt. 52 at 47.  

Unlike Babcock, at trial Oberle testified consistent with his police report 

that he had received information about the alleged traffic violations from 

Henderson. Id. at 101–02. He testified that “[a]ll I know is that Detective 

Henderson was the one that I recognized that I received the information from.” 

Id. at 102. At trial, Henderson testified that he neither observed the alleged 

traffic violations nor communicated information or instructions following the 
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alleged traffic violations. Dkt. 52 at 155–56. Shiparski testified at trial that he 

advised Babcock about the alleged traffic violations and instructed him to 

perform a traffic stop. Id. at 32. 

Following the trial, the jury found Seay guilty of violating 18 U.S.C. § 

922(g)(1). Dkt. 48; see Dkt. 67, A1–6. The district court sentenced Seay to 64 

months in prison, with a subsequent two-year term of supervised release upon 

release from imprisonment. Dkt. 67, A1–6. Seay filed a timely notice of appeal 

on January 19, 2021. Dkt. 69.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT   

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure 

in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches 

and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. A “traffic stop ‘constitutes a ‘seizure’ of 

‘persons’ within the meaning of [the Fourth Amendment].”’ Rodriguez v. United 

States, 575 U.S. 348, 359 (2015) (alteration in original) (quoting Whren v. 

United States, 517 U.S. 806, 809–10 (1996)). Police may conduct a traffic stop if 

they have: (1) “reasonable suspicion based on articulable facts that a crime is 

about to be or has been committed,” United States v. Wimbush, 337 F.3d 947, 

949 (7th Cir. 2003), or (2) “probable cause to believe” that a traffic violation 

“has been committed.” United States v. McDonald, 453 F.3d 958, 960–62 (7th 

Cir. 2006) (requiring probable cause to justify a stop based on a traffic 

infraction). A traffic stop made without the requisite level of reasonable 

suspicion or probable cause is illegal. See, e.g., McDonald, 453 F.3d at 962. It 

is undisputed that Babcock, the officer who stopped Seay, did not personally 
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witness anything giving him reasonable suspicion or probable cause for the 

stop and resulting seizure.  

The government failed to carry its burden of establishing that 

information known to other officers not present at the scene of the stop could 

be imputed to Babcock under the Fourth Amendment’s collective knowledge 

doctrine. The collective knowledge doctrine permits police officers to make 

traffic stops even when the officer making the stop did not have “firsthand 

knowledge of facts that amount to the necessary level of suspicion,” United 

States v. Williams, 627 F.3d 247, 252 (7th Cir. 2010), as long as certain 

requirements are met. “[The] collective knowledge doctrine requires: (1) that the 

officer effecting the stop act in objective reliance on the information received; 

(2) that the law enforcement officer providing the information had a reasonable 

suspicion to justify the stop; and (3) that the stop conducted was no more 

intrusive than would have been permissible for the officer requesting it.” United 

States v. Nafzger, 974 F.2d 906, 911 (7th Cir. 1992). Further, the doctrine 

requires that the government demonstrate a clear chain of communication 

between the requesting and stopping officers. Williams, 627 F.3d at 252–53; 

see also Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911 (“Further, the requesting officer’s belief that 

there is sufficient evidence to detain a suspect must have been communicated 

to the officer performing the stop.”). 

The district court erred in holding that the collective knowledge doctrine 

could apply to the facts in this case. First, as the district court acknowledged, 

it is unclear here who communicated what information to Babcock in advance 
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of the traffic stop. The collective knowledge doctrine does not apply when there 

is no clear chain of communication between an officer who has probable cause 

based on something he observed at one location, and a different officer who 

conducts a traffic stop at a different location. Indeed, it is impossible in such 

circumstances to ensure that probable cause in fact was passed from the 

officer who observed the alleged violation to the officer who conducted the 

traffic stop.  

Second, the district court misapplied the collective knowledge doctrine 

when evaluating whether the officer conducting the traffic stop acted in 

objective reliance on information received. The first prong of the Nafzger

collective knowledge doctrine test requires the court to affirmatively determine 

that “the officer taking the action” acted “in objective reliance on the 

information received.” Williams, 627 F.3d at 252. There is insufficient evidence 

of objective reliance here. The officer making the traffic stop could not identify 

who told him what; rather, the officer making the traffic stop repeatedly 

changed his story, ultimately offering three different accounts. Moreover, this is 

not a case where the officers were all closely working together at the same 

scene to carry out the same task. 

The government therefore failed to meet its burden of establishing that 

the collective knowledge doctrine applies in this case. And as a result, 

Babcock’s stop and seizure of Seay was without probable cause or reasonable 

suspicion, and instead was an illegal stop. “Evidence seized as a result of an 

illegal stop is the fruit of the poisonous tree and should not be introduced into 
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evidence.” United States v. Wilbourn, 799 F.3d 900, 910 (7th Cir. 2015). The 

evidence uncovered during the resulting searches and the confession obtained 

following the searches should both be suppressed. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

When reviewing challenges to the denial of a motion to suppress, the 

Court reviews factual determinations for clear error and reviews conclusions of 

law de novo. United States v. Nichols, 847 F.3d 851, 856–57 (7th Cir. 2017).

ARGUMENT 

I. THE VEHICLE STOP VIOLATED THE FOURTH AMENDMENT, 
BECAUSE IT WAS WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE OR REASONABLE 
SUSPICION. 

The collective knowledge doctrine is a limited exception to the Fourth 

Amendment’s requirement that an officer can only conduct a vehicle stop when 

he has sufficient probable cause or reasonable suspicion for that vehicle stop. 

See, e.g., Williams, 627 F.3d at 252; United States v. Harris, 585 F.3d 394, 

400–01 (7th Cir. 2009). The doctrine provides that when one officer has 

reasonable suspicion or probable cause, and he sufficiently communicates that 

reasonable suspicion or probable cause to a second officer, that second officer 

can make a stop based on the first officer’s reasonable suspicion or probable 

cause. See, e.g., Harris, 585 at 400–01. When the doctrine applies, the 

information known to the first officer is “imputed” to the second officer. 

Williams, 627 F.3d at 252.

The collective knowledge doctrine, however, does not give officers carte 

blanche to make stops based on nothing more than “curiosity, inchoate 
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suspicion, or a hunch,” United States v. Cole, No. 20-2105, -- F.3d--, 2021 WL 

1437201, at *3 (7th Cir. Apr. 16, 2021), so long as they can later show that 

some other officer had reasonable suspicion or probable cause. That would 

effectively gut the reasonable suspicion and probable cause requirements. 

Such an indiscriminate application of the collective knowledge doctrine would 

be especially dangerous in the traffic context, given that a local police force 

bent on “strictly enforc[ing] the traffic laws” could arguably “arrest half the 

driving population on any given morning.” Id. (quoting Robert H. Jackson, The 

Federal Prosecutor, Address Delivered at the Second Annual Conference of 

United States Attorneys (Apr. 1, 1940)). And as this Court recently recognized, 

“[w]e should not be surprised that there is a significant risk of ‘mission creep’ 

where the stop is justified constitutionally by one limited purpose but is 

actually motivated by a different purpose.” Id. at *11. 

This Circuit therefore has only applied the collective knowledge doctrine 

in limited circumstances. This is a “vertical collective knowledge” case, because 

the government seeks to impute probable cause from one officer who observed 

facts giving rise to probable cause, to a different officer at a different location 

who hadn’t himself observed the facts giving rise to probable cause. The 

government first bears the burden of showing that the requesting officer 

communicated his “belief that there is sufficient evidence to detain [the] 

suspect” to the officer performing the stop. Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911. That 

showing must include a clear accounting of the chain of communication 
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between the officers.5 Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909–10. Additionally, the 

government must show that the officer who took the action “act[ed] in objective 

reliance on the information received,” that the officer who provided the 

information had “facts supporting the level of suspicion required,” and that the 

stop was “no more intrusive than would have been permissible for the officer 

requesting it.” Williams, 627 F.3d at 252–53. 

The district court erred in applying the collective knowledge doctrine to 

the facts of this case. It acknowledged that “Officers Babcock and Oberle were 

confused as to who communicated the information to them,” Dkt. 30 at 12, 

A18, and that “it is not clear from the different individual police reports what 

information was conveyed by whom,” id. at 7, A13. It also acknowledged that 

the officers’ accounts conflicted with each other and “do not describe how the 

information was communicated[.]” Id. at 7, 12, A13, A18. Still, the district court 

held that the officers’ testimony at the evidentiary hearing that they were in 

communication together—which was not mentioned in the officers’ 

contemporaneous police reports and was first added to the record following 

Seay’s motion to suppress—was sufficient to establish that probable cause 

sufficiently had been communicated and conveyed to Babcock. Id. at 12, A18. 

This approach misconstrues the collective knowledge doctrine and opens the 

5 Vertical collective knowledge cases can be distinguished from “horizontal collective 
knowledge” cases, where multiple officers working on a scene together each have 
partial knowledge that in some circumstances can collectively rise to the necessary 
level of suspicion. See United States v. Parra, 402 F.3d 752, 764 (7th Cir. 2005) 
(distinguishing cases where an officer “act[s] at the direction of another officer or police 
agency,” from those where “officers are in communication with each other while 
working together at a scene”) (quoting Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911).  
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door to abuses by law enforcement officers, who could be tempted to provide an 

after-the-fact “collective knowledge” justification for an improper seizure.

A. The district court erred in applying the collective knowledge 
doctrine here because the government did not clearly account 
for the chain of communication between the officers.

In the vertical collective knowledge cases on which the district court 

relied, the government clearly accounted for the chain of communication 

between the officers—and the court did not have to fill in the gaps as to what 

communication occurred. See United States v. Nicksion, 628 F.3d 368, 375 (7th 

Cir. 2010) (stating that a detective told the acting officers the facts underlying 

his suspicions and then requested that they stop the defendant’s car); 

Williams, 627 F.3d at 253 (noting that one officer “specifically identified [a] 

Suburban and its occupants” to the officer who made the stop); Tangwall v. 

Stuckey, 135 F.3d 510, 513, 520 (7th Cir. 1998) (stating that an officer notified 

the arresting officer of a positive identification of the suspect); Nafzger, 974 

F.2d at 912–13 (noting that an FBI agent relayed information underlying his 

suspicions to supervising officers at a command post, who told other officers at 

the command post, who then directed the acting officer to make the stop). By 

contrast, when the chain of communication is missing a link, this Circuit does 

not apply the collective knowledge doctrine. See, e.g., Reher v. Vivo, 656 F.3d 

772, 777 (7th Cir. 2011) (declining to apply the collective knowledge doctrine 

given district court finding that “the extent of the communication between the 

officers was not clear”); United States v. Ellis, 499 F.3d 686, 690 (7th Cir. 2007) 

(declining to apply the collective knowledge doctrine because the officer 
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effecting the search “couldn’t hear exactly what was being said back and forth” 

between the other officers).  

United States v. Wilbourn illustrates this requirement. 799 F.3d 900 (7th 

Cir. 2015). There, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“ATF”) 

agents and Chicago Police Department (“CPD”) officers had been surveilling the 

defendant. Id. at 906. The defendant left a gas station where he was under 

surveillance, and a CPD officer promptly stopped the defendant’s car. Id. The 

ATF agent’s incident report did not provide a justification for the stop, although 

the government later claimed the stop was for a traffic violation. Id. at 909. In 

denying the defendant’s suppression motion, the district court presumed that 

the federal agents, who themselves had probable cause, had sufficiently 

communicated with the CPD officers. Brief of Defendants-Appellants at App. 85 

(order denying defendant’s motion to suppress (N.D. Ill. Nov. 26, 2008)), United 

States v. Wilbourn, No. 13-3715 (7th Cir. Aug. 26, 2014), ECF No. 33. This 

Court reversed, holding that the government had not met its burden of clearly 

showing that the agents had “communicated [the] basis for the[ir] suspicions 

to” the CPD officers. Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909–10. Thus, a reasonable 

inference that information was transferred from a requesting officer to a 

stopping officer is insufficient. The court cannot fill in the gaps. Rather, the 

government bears the burden of establishing either that the stopping officer 

himself had firsthand knowledge of the facts giving rise to reasonable suspicion 

or probable cause, or of establishing how that information was conveyed to the 

stopping officer. 
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Because the record in this case similarly does not establish a clear chain 

of communication, the government did not meet its burden of establishing that 

probable cause was sufficiently communicated to the arresting officer. United 

States v. Wheeler, 800 F.2d 100, 103 (7th Cir. 1986); see also Nafzger, 974 

F.2d at 911. This case suffers from the same problems that this Court has 

found to foreclose application of the vertical collective knowledge doctrine in 

other cases. It is undisputed that Babcock did not himself observe anything 

giving rise to probable cause or reasonable suspicion, and that he was not 

participating in surveillance alongside the other officers. As the district court 

noted, the record evidence is incomplete and inconsistent. Dkt. 30 at 7, A13. 

The officers’ contemporaneous police reports were contradictory, irreconcilable, 

and insufficient to establish probable cause or reasonable suspicion. Indeed, 

Babcock and Oberle stated in their reports that they received information 

supplying them with probable cause from Henderson, but Henderson’s report 

indicates he did not communicate any information to them. Like in Wilbourn, 

the original record includes gaps that could only be reconciled long after the 

stop by filling in missing information. See Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909–10.  

And even after the officers offered new accounts at the evidentiary 

hearing and at trial, their accounts continued to conflict with one another and 

conflict with their original reports. Babcock himself offered three different 

accounts of how he supposedly came to have probable cause for the traffic 

stop. See Dkt. 17-3 at 1; Dkt. 26 at 36–37; Dkt. 52 at 47. Like in Reher, the 

district court noted that the record wasn’t “clear” as to who conveyed what to 
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whom. 656 F.3d at 777 (holding that the government’s accounting of the 

“extent of the communication between the officers” was far from “clear”); see 

Dkt. 30 at 7, A13.  

Moreover, while the district court found that “the [evidentiary] hearing 

testimony of the police officers was credible, consistent and reasonably 

explained the inconsistency in the officer’s police reports,” see Dkt. 30 at 11, 

A17, that finding is both wrong and irrelevant. The officers’ post-hoc 

rationalizations were wholly inconsistent with their police reports made under 

penalty of perjury, and the district court committed clear error by crediting 

those post-hoc rationalizations without sufficient explanation. See, e.g., Ray v. 

Clements, 700 F.3d 993, 1013 (7th Cir. 2012). But those credibility findings are 

immaterial, in any event, because the district court committed an error of law 

regardless of the credibility findings.  

The district court applied the collective knowledge doctrine based on its 

finding that the officers were in “close communication” with each other. Dkt. 30 

at 7, 12–13, A13, A18–19. This holding runs afoul of Seventh Circuit 

precedent. See Section I.B, infra. Moreover, the district court also 

acknowledged in its opinion that the chain of communication in this case was 

unclear. See, e.g., Dkt. 30 at 12, A18 (concluding that “the information 

supporting the probable cause needed to stop Mr. Seay’s vehicle was 

communicated to the officers who made the stop” (emphasis added)); id. at 12, 

A18 (concluding that “Officer Babcock who completed the traffic stop acted in 

objective reliance on the information received from Investigator 
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Shiparski and Detective Henderson” (emphasis added)); id. at 8, A14.  

Each of these deficiencies, on its own, forecloses reliance on the vertical 

collective knowledge doctrine in this case. When taken together, moreover, 

these deficiencies demonstrate that this is far from the clear chain of 

communication required to invoke the vertical collective knowledge doctrine. 

See Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909–10; Reher, 656 F.3d at 777; see also Ellis, 499 

F.3d at 690. Because there was no clear chain of communication between the 

officer observing events giving rise to probable cause or reasonable suspicion, 

and the officer subsequently making the stop, the district court erred in 

applying the collective knowledge doctrine. 

B. The district court further erred in evaluating whether Officer 
Babcock acted in objective reliance on information he 
received. 

The first prong of the Nafzger test requires the court to affirmatively 

determine that “the officer taking the action” acted “in objective reliance on the 

information received.” 974 F.2d at 911. The inquiry involves an “objective” 

analysis of “the information received”—it is not an opportunity for the court to 

guess at an officer’s personal knowledge and subjective motivation. Williams, 

627 F.3d at 254–55 (“subjective reasons for making the stop and initiating the 

search are irrelevant”); Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 813 (1996). For a 

court to properly “review[] a stop or arrest to see if reasonable suspicion or 

probable cause was present, it should examine the information known to both 

the officer giving the direction and the officer carrying out the Terry stop or 

arrest to determine whether, between the two, there was an adequate factual 
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basis for the action.” Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 912.  

Despite noting the three-part Nafzger test, the district court condensed 

the inquiry into a general question of whether the officers were in “close 

communication.” Dkt. 30 at 6, A12. This was in error, however. When officers 

act on knowledge or information that they do not personally possess, the 

source of that information is critical. An examination of “the information 

known to . . . the officer giving the direction,” see Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 912, 

necessarily requires knowing that officer’s identity.  

Accordingly, this Court requires a sufficiently clear and developed record 

of communication in order to objectively determine whether probable cause 

existed and was conveyed. Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909–10 (holding that 

knowledge cannot be imputed based on the “presum[ption] that” interceding 

officers “received a call” from officers detailing “extensive evidence” justifying 

reasonable suspicion). Alternatively, this Court has held that objective evidence 

of communication can exist when the officer conducting the stop or arrest is an 

active and embedded member of a team of officers in the midst of executing the 

same operation at a scene. United States v. Parra, 402 F.3d 752, 766 (7th Cir. 

2005) (distinguishing cases where “officers … worked together closely in 

monitoring the drug transaction as it unfolded”) (citing Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 

911).  

Neither of those requirements is satisfied in this case. First, the record in 

this case does not provide a clear account of who provided information to 

Babcock and, as such, does not enable an objective analysis of the 



25 

communication. See Section I.A supra; see also Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 909. 

Where an officer’s story changes because he was “confused,” and where it is 

unclear “what information was conveyed by whom,” Dkt. 30 at 12, 7, A18, A13, 

a court cannot properly find that “the officer effecting the stop act[ed] in 

objective reliance on the information received,” Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911. 

Second, this case is not exempt from the requirement of a clear and 

developed record of communication. In finding that the government had met its 

burden to invoke the collective knowledge doctrine, the district court 

emphasized that the officers were part of a “coordinated investigation” and in 

“close communication” with each other. Dkt. 30 at 8, A14. That misapprehends 

this Circuit’s precedent, however. This exception typically involves officers 

working closely together in close physical proximity—for example, officers 

conducting an operation together at a scene. See, e.g., Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911 

(explaining that “when officers are in communication with each other while 

working together at a scene, their knowledge may be mutually imputed . . . .”). 

And while the district court relied on Nafzger for the proposition that the “same 

scene” requirement need not always be taken literally, see Dkt. 30 at 6, A12, 

Nafzger involved a materially different fact pattern. In that case, the officers 

were all substantively “briefed” ahead of time, were working together to conduct 

the same investigation “cover[ing] a large area,” and were using “an established 

communication system.”  Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 914–15; see also Wilbourn, 799 

F.3d at 909 (declining to “presume” contents of police radio communication).  

This case does not involve any of those factors. It is undisputed that 
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Shiparski and Fish were conducting surveillance—but that Babcock was not. 

Thus, it is irrelevant whether Shiparski’s knowledge of facts giving rise to 

probable cause can be imputed to officers with whom he was conducting the 

surveillance operation—that list didn’t include Babcock in any event. Further, 

the knowledge the government seeks to impute in this case is different from the 

object of the surveillance operation. Dkt. 26 at 21-22 (Shiparski’s testimony 

that he did not believe his surveillance had given him probable cause for a 

stop). Babcock further was not at the location of the surveillance. This 

therefore is not a “horizontal” collective knowledge doctrine case where facts 

relevant to an ongoing investigation can be aggregated among officers actively 

working closely together on the scene of that investigation.  

As a result, the cases relied upon by the district court below are 

inapposite. Those cases involved either a situation where the chain of 

communication was clear among the officers at issue, or involved a situation 

where the officers at issue were conducting surveillance together. Dkt. 30 at 8, 

A14; see Parra, 402 F.3d at 765–66 (highlighting the fact that the arresting 

officer was a DEA agent participating in a multi-day, multi-suspect drug 

investigation and had “shared a surveillance van” with a fellow agent); Harris, 

585 F.3d at 401 (involving a clear, developed, and consistent chain of 

communication from one officer to another member of “the same police unit”); 

Nicksion, 628 F.3d at 375 (noting the arresting officers were briefed by a single 

detective on specifics of “the investigation into” the suspect’s drug trafficking). 

Neither is the case here.
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If “objective reliance” did not require a traceable chain of probable cause, 

courts could not meaningfully review the very stops the collective knowledge 

doctrine is meant to govern. The collective knowledge doctrine would be nearly 

boundless if the mere existence of a traffic stop could be sufficient to show 

“objective reliance” on another officer. Similarly, the collective knowledge 

doctrine would be nearly boundless if testimony that officers were in radio 

contact with each other could be sufficient to show “objective reliance” on 

another officer. The district court thus erred in its evaluation of objective 

reliance on the facts of this case, and in its resulting holding that the 

requirements of the collective knowledge doctrine had been satisfied. See Dkt. 

30 at 7–9, 12–13, A13–15, A18–19. 

Accordingly, the government failed to establish a sufficiently clear chain 

of communication from Shiparski and Fish who conducted the surveillance and 

observed the alleged traffic violations, to Babcock who later conducted the 

traffic stop at a different location. As a result, the collective knowledge doctrine 

does not apply in this case. Officer Babcock therefore had neither probable 

cause nor reasonable suspicion for the stop and seizure, and the stop and 

seizure were in violation of the Fourth Amendment. 

II. THE EVIDENCE UNCOVERED DURING AND FOLLOWING THE 
SEARCHES OF SEAY’S VEHICLE AND PERSON MUST BE 
SUPPRESSED AS FRUITS OF THE POISONOUS TREE. 

“Evidence seized as a result of an illegal stop is the fruit of the poisonous 

tree and should not be introduced into evidence.” Wilbourn, 799 F.3d at 910. In 

this case, the evidence uncovered following the stop and search of Seay 
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included a firearm and two magazines, in addition to Seay’s subsequent 

confession to possessing these items following his arrest. Dkt. at 30 at 1, 4, A7, 

A10. Because the stop of the vehicle was not supported by either probable 

cause or reasonable suspicion, all physical evidence recovered during the 

searches of Seay’s person and the vehicle must be suppressed as the direct 

fruits of the unconstitutional stop and seizure. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 

U.S. 471, 484–85 (1963) (“[E]vidence seized during an unlawful search [can] 

not constitute proof against the victim of the search. The exclusionary 

prohibition extends as well to the indirect as the direct products of such 

invasions.”) (citations omitted). Seay’s subsequent confession to possessing the 

items uncovered during the searches similarly is the direct fruit of the 

unconstitutional stop and seizure, and similarly must be suppressed. Id.; see 

also United States v. Jones, 214 F.3d 836, 838 (7th Cir. 2000) (“A confession 

that occurs during unlawful custody, or was influenced by unlawfully seized 

evidence, must be suppressed unless intervening events demonstrate that the 

illegality did not cause the confession.”) (collecting cases); United States v. 

Reed, 349 F.3d 457, 463 (7th Cir. 2003) (same) (citing Brown v. Illinois, 422 

U.S. 590, 602 (1975)).

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Rapheal Seay respectfully requests that the 

Court vacate Seay’s conviction and reverse the denial of his motion to 

suppress.  
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Dated:  May 5, 2021 

 s/ Sarah M. Konsky  
Sarah M. Konsky 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

Plaintiff,  
 
 vs.  
 
RAPHEAL SEAY 
 

Defendant. 

 
CASE NUMBER: 3:20CR006-001 

USM Number: 16930-027 

 

DAVID P JONES 
DEFENDANT’S ATTORNEY 

   

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
 

THE DEFENDANT was found guilty on count 1 of the Indictment by a jury after a plea of not guilty 
on October 6, 2020. 
 
ACCORDINGLY, the court has adjudicated that the defendant is guilty of the following offense: 
 

Title, Section & Nature of Offense Date Offense Ended Count Number 

18:922(g)(1) FELON IN POSSESSION OF A 
FIREARM WITH FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

December 9, 2019 1 

 
 
The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 6 of this judgment.  The sentence is 
imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. 
  
Final order of forfeiture forthcoming. 
 
IT IS ORDERED that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney for this district within 
30 days of any change of name, residence, mailing address or other material change in the 
defendant’s economic circumstances until all fines, restitution, costs and special assessments 
imposed by this judgment are fully paid. 
 

January 14, 2021 

Date of Imposition of Judgment 

s/ Jon E. DeGuilio 

Signature of Judge 

Jon E. DeGuilio, Chief Judge, U.S. District Court 

Name and Title of Judge 

January 14, 2021 

Date 
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Case Number: 3:20CR006-001 
Defendant: RAPHEAL SEAY  Page 2 of 6  
 

IMPRISONMENT 
 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be 
imprisoned for a term of 64 months. 
 
The Court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons:  That the Bureau of 
Prisons designate as the place of the defendant's confinement, if such placement is consistent 
with the defendant's security classification as determined by the Bureau of Prisons, a facility as 
close as possible to his family in Michigan City, Indiana to facilitate regular family visitation. 
 
The Court leaves it to the BOP to calculate any credit for time served. 
 
The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 
 

RETURN 
 

I have executed this judgment as follows: 
 

Defendant delivered ____________________ to ______________ at ______________, 
with a certified copy of this judgment. 
 
 _____________________________ 
  UNITED STATES MARSHAL 
 

By:  _____________________________ 
DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL 
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Case Number: 3:20CR006-001 
Defendant: RAPHEAL SEAY  Page 3 of 6  
 

 
 

SUPERVISED RELEASE 
 
Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of 2 
years. 
 

CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
 

While on supervision, the defendant shall comply with the following conditions: 
 

1.  You must not commit another federal, state, or local crime.  
 
2.  You must not unlawfully possess a controlled substance.  
 
3.  You must not unlawfully use any controlled substance, including marijuana, and must 

submit to one drug test within 15 days of the beginning of supervision and at least 2 
periodic tests after that for use of a controlled substance.  

 
4.  You must cooperate with the probation officer with respect to the collection of DNA.  
 
5.  You must be lawfully employed full-time (at least 30 hours per week). If you are not 

employed full-time, you must try to find full-time employment under the supervision of the 
probation officer. If you become unemployed, or change your employer, position, or 
location of employment, you must tell the probation officer within 72 hours of the change. 
If after 90 days you do not find employment, you must complete at least 10 hours of 
community service per week until employed or participate in a job skills training program 
approved and directed by your probation officer.   

 
6.  You must report in person to the probation office, in the district which you are released, 

within 72 hours of release from the custody of the Bureau of Prisons. You must report to 
the probation officer in the manner and as frequently as the court or the probation officer 
directs; and you must notify the probation officer within 48 hours of any change in 
residence, and within 72 hours of being arrested or questioned by a police officer.  

 
7.  You must not travel knowingly outside the federal judicial district without the permission of 

the court. Alternatively, the probation officer will grant such permission when doing so will 
reasonably assure the probation officer’s knowledge of your whereabouts and that travel 
will not hinder your rehabilitation or present a public safety risk.  

 
8.  You must truthfully answer any inquiry by the probation officer and must follow the 

instruction of the probation officer pertaining to your supervision and conditions of 
supervision. This condition does not prevent you from invoking the Fifth Amendment 
privilege against self-incrimination.  

 
9.  You must permit a probation officer to meet at your home or any other reasonable location 

and must permit confiscation of any contraband the probation officer observes in plain 
view. The probation officer will not conduct such a visit between the hours of 11:00 p.m. 
and 7:00 a.m. without specific reason to believe a visit during those hours would reveal 
information or contraband that wouldn’t be revealed through a visit during regular hours.  
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Case Number: 3:20CR006-001 
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10.  You must not meet, communicate, or otherwise interact with persons whom you know to 
be engaged or planning to be engaged in criminal activity.  

 
11.  You must not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or any other dangerous 

weapon (meaning an instrument designed to be used as a weapon and capable of causing 
death or serious bodily harm).  

 
12.  You must not enter into any agreement to act as an informant or special agent of a law 

enforcement agency without the court’s permission.  
 
13.  Unless an assessment at the time of release from imprisonment or commencement of 

probation indicates to the court that participation is unnecessary, you must participate in 
a substance abuse treatment program or aftercare program. The court will receive 
notification of such assessment. You must abide by all treatment program requirements 
and restrictions, consistent with the conditions of the treatment provider. You will be 
required to participate in drug and /or alcohol testing, not to exceed 85 drug and/or alcohol 
tests per year. At the request of a treatment provider, probation officer, or you, the court 
may revise these conditions. While under supervision, you must not consume alcoholic 
beverages. You must pay all or a part of the costs for participation in the program, not to 
exceed the sliding fee scale as established by the Department of Health and Human 
Services and adopted by this court. Failure to pay these costs will not be grounds for 
revocation unless the failure is willful.  
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Case Number: 3:20CR006-001 
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CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
 
The defendant shall pay the following total criminal monetary penalties in accordance with the 
schedule of payments set forth in this judgment. 
 

Total Assessment Total Fine Total Restitution 

$100  NONE NONE 
 
The defendant shall make the special assessment payment payable to Clerk, U.S. District Court, 
102 Robert A. Grant Courthouse, 204 South Main Street, South Bend, IN 46601. The special 
assessment payment shall be due immediately. 
 

FINE 

No fine imposed. 
 

RESTITUTION 

No restitution imposed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FORFEITURE 
 

The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 
 
1) Taurus G2C Pistol CAL:9 SN: TMR72881; and 
 
2) 28 rounds Winchester-Western Ammunition CAL 9 
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Case Number: 3:20CR006-001 
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Name: RAPHEAL SEAY 
Docket No.: 3:20CR006-001 

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SUPERVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 
 Upon a finding of a violation of probation or supervised release, I understand that the Court 
may (1) revoke supervision, (2) extend the term of supervision, and/or (3) modify the conditions 
of supervision. 
 
 I have reviewed the Judgment and Commitment Order in my case and the supervision 
conditions therein.  These conditions have been read to me.  I fully understand the conditions and 
have been provided a copy of them. 
 
 
 (Signed) 
  ____________________________________      __________________ 
    Defendant                                                                         Date 
 
 
  ____________________________________      __________________ 
    U.S. Probation Officer/Designated Witness                      Date 
 

USDC IN/ND case 3:20-cr-00006-JD-MGG   document 67   filed 01/14/21   page 6 of 6

A6



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

SOUTH BEND DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
 v. 
 
RAPHEAL SEAY 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
Case No. 3:20-CR-006 JD 
 

 
AMENDED OPINION AND ORDER1 

Defendant Raphael Seay is charged with one count of possessing a firearm as a felon. Mr. 

Seay was stopped by an officer after committing two traffic violations and he did not have a 

driver’s license but provided his identification card and the vehicle’s registration. [DE 17]. While 

the first officer was running a background check on Mr. Seay’s documents in his squad car, a 

second officer’s K-9 partner gave a positive alert to the existence of drugs at the driver’s side 

door of Mr. Seay’s car. A search of his person revealed marijuana and other drug paraphernalia. 

A search of the car revealed a firearm with a high capacity extended magazine under the front 

passenger seat and another magazine in the center console. [DE 19]. Mr. Seay has now moved to 

suppress all evidence obtained during the search of his person and his vehicle, arguing that the 

searches were unlawful. For the following reasons, the Court denies the motion to suppress. 

I.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On December 9, 2019, members of the La Porte County Drug Task Force were 

conducting surveillance of Mr. Seay, who the officers knew from an ongoing investigation into 

the sale and distribution of narcotics. [DE 26 at 8-9]. The surveillance was conducted by 

Investigator Shiparski and Detective Fish a few blocks from the Michigan City Police 

Department (“MCPD”). At approximately 4:30 p.m., Investigator Shiparski and Detective Fish 

 
1 The Court has amended this order to reflect the citations to the transcript of the evidentiary hearing that was 
docketed at DE 26.  
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observed a “dark colored Nissan Altima, with tinted windows” park near the area of Elm and 

Main Street. [DE 17-1 at 1]. Investigator Shiparski, “familiar with [Mr. Seay’s] appearance and 

characteristics through previous law enforcement investigations,” recognized Mr. Seay as he 

exited the vehicle and walked up to the porch of a nearby home. Id. Around 4:45 p.m., 

Investigator Shiparski observed another sedan pull up to where Mr. Seay was standing, Mr. Seay 

approached the vehicle, and conducted “what appeared to [be] . . . a hand-to-hand transaction.” 

Id. Investigator Shiparski watched Mr. Seay approach the vehicle, interact briefly with the driver 

who remained in the vehicle before walking away and then the vehicle pulled away. Id.  

At around 5:00 p.m., Investigator Shiparski and Detective Fish watched Mr. Seay get into 

his car, pull away from the house, and drive south on Elm Street. At this point in time, 

Investigator Shiparski observed that the car that Mr. Seay was driving “failed to come to a 

complete stop” at the intersections of Elm and Pearl Street and then at Elm and Dupage street. Id. 

While Shiparski and Fish were conducting surveillance of Mr. Seay, they were communicating 

with Detective Henderson, who was located at MCPD, and Officers Babcock and Oberle, who 

were parked in the MCPD parking lot a couple blocks away. [DE 26 at 11-12, 36-37]. At the 

evidentiary hearing, Detective Shiparski testified that “[f]rom the moment we began 

surveillance, I was in constant communication with Corporal Henderson via the radio.” [DE 26 

at 15]. Detective Shiparski explained that they were simultaneously in contact with Detective 

Henderson by way of the police radio and with Officers Babcock and Oberle via a cellphone 

through the Bluetooth in-car phone system. [DE 26 11-12]. While listening to the information 

relayed from the surveillance team, Officer Babcock drove to where the vehicle was traveling 

and then activated his red and blue lights and initiated a traffic stop. [DE 26 37-38]. 
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After identifying himself to Mr. Seay, Officer Babcock explained that he stopped Mr. 

Seay “for rolling a couple stop signs on Elm.” Id. at 40. Mr. Seay stated that he did not have a 

driver’s license but provided his Indiana ID card and the registration for the vehicle. While these 

events were occurring, both Detective Henderson and Officer Oberle arrived at the traffic stop to 

assist with the investigation. As Officer Babcock completed a background check on Mr. Seay’s 

information, Officer Oberle walked around Mr. Seay’s vehicle with his K9 partner, Axel. Id. at 

41. When Officer Oberle commanded Axel to sniff, “he walked around the driver’s side of the 

vehicle where I observed a change of behavior in the form of him stopping at the driver’s door 

seam and his breathing becoming louder and faster.” [DE 17-4 at 1]. Officer Oberle explained in 

the evidentiary hearing that Axel made a “passive alert” for drugs by sitting next to the driver’s 

side door. [DE 26 at 74].  

 Once Officer Oberle alerted the team to the passive alert, Officer Babcock returned to 

Mr. Seay’s vehicle and asked him to step out. [DE 26 at 41-42]. As Detective Henderson was 

patting down Mr. Seay, he “immediately felt a large mason jar in [his] front right coat pocket and 

[said] the following, ‘You probably have a jar of weed in your pocket,’ and Mr. Seay stated yes.” 

[DE 17-2 at 1]. Following this, Mr. Seay was detained and Detective Henderson completed a 

search of his person where he found: a digital scale, small clear plastic zip lock bags, a clear 

plastic bag containing a green leafy substance, a dropper bottle containing Crazy Glue, an iPhone 

and $33 of U.S. currency. Id. at 1-2. Officer Oberle started searching the passenger compartment 

of the vehicle and Detective Henderson informed Mr. Seay that the positive K9 alert provided 

probable cause to search the vehicle. Id. at 2. Officer Oberle alerted all officers on the scene that 

he found a handgun underneath the front passenger seat. Id. Officer Babcock then transported 

Mr. Seay to the MCPD to begin the booking process. Officer Oberle located an additional loaded 
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magazine in the center console of the Nissan. Id. Detective Henderson noted in his report that he 

“took possession of all articles of evidence found inside the Nissan at approximately 1730 

hours.” Id.  

Once all the evidence from Mr. Seay’s person and vehicle were processed and stored, 

Investigator Shiparski and Detective Henderson spoke with Mr. Seay in the holding area at 

MCPD. Mr. Seay was escorted to an interview room where he waived his Constitutional rights 

and confessed to possessing approximately 14 grams of marijuana and a 9mm pistol with a 30-

round clip. [DE 17-1 at 2]. Mr. Seay stated that he “purchased the firearm off the streets in South 

Bend for $450” about a month prior, that he was the only person to possess it, and that he had 

never shot it. Id. Mr. Seay “stated that he knew he was a felon and that he couldn’t possess a 

firearm, but that he felt he needed one to protect himself.” Id. Mr. Seay also explained that he 

used his cell phone to arrange the sale of marijuana and that he does not sell any other kind of 

drug. Id. Finally, Mr. Seay was issued three traffic tickets with a time stamp of 07:14 pm—one 

for driving while suspended and two for failing to make a complete stop at two intersections. 

[DE 17 at 7].  

II.  DISCUSSION 

Mr. Seay now moves to suppress all of the evidence obtained during the search of his 

person and his vehicle as the evidence is the direct fruit of an illegal, warrantless seizure 

conducted by police officers and upon which the Grand Jury solely relied in its indictment of him 

for being a felon in possession of a firearm. Mr. Seay also stated at the evidentiary hearing that 

he did not question the events subsequent to the stop made by Officer Babcock but stated that his 

argument came down to whether Officer Babcock had probable cause to make the stop in the 

first place. [DE 26 at 4-5]. 

A. Probable Cause for the Stop 
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Mr. Seay argues that the search of his person and the car was unlawful, and as the result 

of that search, the evidence found should be suppressed. The government indicates that only the 

9mm pistol, its ammunition, the second magazine and its ammunition, Mr. Seay’s cell phone 

along with some of its extracted contents, and portions of his recorded interview with 

investigators would be admissible at trial. [DE 19 at 6]. The parties dispute a number of issues 

relative to the stop and subsequent search, but primarily disagree as to whether there was 

probable cause for the stop.  

Mr. Seay argues that Officer Babcock lacked probable cause to seize him and the vehicle 

he was operating. Both parties agree that Officer Babcock did not personally witness or observe 

Mr. Seay commit the two alleged traffic infractions which led to the traffic stop and issued 

citations. To complicate matters, Officer Babcock’s report indicates that “Detective Henderson 

relayed more information stating that he witnessed the vehicle commit multiple traffic 

infractions” which led Babcock to make the traffic stop. [DE 17-3 at 1]. Officer Oberle’s report 

indicates that he was contacted by Detective Henderson as well. [DE 17-4 at 1]. Detective 

Henderson’s report does not state that he communicated this information to either officer. [DE 

17-2 at 1]. And notably, Investigator Shiparski’s report indicates that he was the one to contact 

Officer Babcock regarding Mr. Seay’s traffic violations. [DE 17-1 at 1]. Thus, Mr. Seay argues 

that Officer Babcock lacked probable cause to seize him and the vehicle he was operating 

because 1) he did not personally witness the traffic offense and 2) his knowledge cannot be 

imputed through the “collective knowledge doctrine.” [DE 17 at 13].   

 “As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police 

have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” Whren v. United States, 517 

U.S. 806, 810 (1996). In this instance, Investigator Shiparski and Detective Fish observed Mr. 
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Seay’s car fail to come to a complete stop at two intersections, but they were not the officers who 

completed the traffic stop. The collective knowledge doctrine applies to situations such as this 

where “[t]he police who actually make the arrest need not personally know all the facts that 

constitute probable cause if they reasonably are acting at the direction of another officer or police 

agency” and instead “the arrest is proper so long as the knowledge of the officer directing the 

arrest, or the collective knowledge of the agency he works for, is sufficient to constitute probable 

cause.” Tangwall v. Stuckey, 135 F.3d 510, 517 (7th Cir. 1998) (emphasis removed). Thus, under 

the doctrine, Officer Babcock could stop, search, or arrest Mr. Seay at the direction of another 

officer even if he did not have firsthand knowledge of the facts that provided the necessary level 

of suspicion for the stop. See United States v. Williams, 627 F.3d 247, 252 (7th Cir. 2010). There 

are three requirements for the doctrine to apply:  

 “(1) the officer taking the action must act in objective reliance on the information 
received, (2) the officer providing the information—or the agency for which he 
works—must have facts supporting the level of suspicion required, and  (3) the stop 
must be no more intrusive than would have been permissible for the officer 
requesting it.”  

 
United States v. Nafzger, 974 F.2d 906, 911 (7th Cir. 1992). Generally, if the officers conducting 

surveillance and the officers making the traffic stop are in close communication with each other, 

then the collective knowledge doctrine will apply. See United States v. Parra, 402 F.3d 752, 766 

(7th Cir. 2005); Williams, 627 F.3d at 256. “Thus, it is the ability of the officers to communicate 

with each other that matters most, not whether the officers were physically at the same scene.” 

Nafzger, 974 F.2d at 911.  

To apply the collective knowledge doctrine here, the Court must determine what 

knowledge may be imputed to Officer Babcock at the time of the traffic stop and whether that 

knowledge was sufficient to support probable cause for the stop. When Mr. Seay was stopped on 
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Thurman Street, the team of officers involved in his surveillance and the traffic stop had the 

following information: (1) Mr. Seay was in an area known for its drug activity, (2) Mr. Seay had 

a history of dealing drugs, (3) Mr. Seay came and went from a house under surveillance over the 

course of 45 minutes to an hour, (4) Mr. Seay likely completed a hand-to-hand drug transaction 

outside of the house, and (4) after leaving the house, Mr. Seay failed to make a complete stop at 

two stop signs as required by law. [DE 26 at 9-11; 15-16]. This is sufficient evidence in 

aggregate to establish probable cause for Mr. Seay’s stop. Now, the Court must determine 

whether this information may be imputed to Officer Babcock who stopped him.  

Although it is not clear from the different individual police reports what information was 

conveyed by whom, the record from the evidentiary hearing demonstrates that the officers 

conducting surveillance of Mr. Seay were in close communication with Detective Henderson and 

the two patrol officers including Officer Babcock. Investigator Shiparski testified that while 

conducting surveillance of Mr. Seay, he was communicating by radio with Detective Henderson 

and “[a]t the same time, I had Officers Oberle and Babcock on the phone, again, on that speaker 

Bluetooth system within our vehicle. So as that’s happening and as I’m communicating with 

[Detective] Henderson via radio, Babcock and Oberle can also hear what I’m saying to 

[Detective] Henderson.” [DE 26 at 16]. Investigator Shiparski stated that he informed everyone 

that Mr. Seay had disregarded two stop signs and that he requested “the vehicle have a traffic 

stop done . . .  by Officer Babcock and/or Oberle.” Id. Similarly, Officer Babcock testified that 

the officers involved in the surveillance of Mr. Seay stated they observed multiple hand-to-hand 

transactions, that they suspected drug dealing was occurring at the house, and that multiple 

traffic violations had occurred. [DE 26 at 37]. Officer Babcock also testified that through his 

phone he could hear Officer Oberle, Detective Shiparski, and Detective Fish and that he could 
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hear the detectives communicating with Detective Henderson through their encrypted police 

radio. Id.  

The testimony clearly demonstrates that the officers were part of a coordinated 

investigation and were in close communication with each other. The Seventh Circuit has found 

officers to be in “close communication” in other similar factual situations. Where numerous 

cellphone calls between officers were made throughout the transaction reporting the activities 

and locations of the parties in interest and while other officers communicated with the 

surveillance team by radio, see Parra, 402 F.3d at 765; where a confidential informant shared 

information about narcotics potentially being stored in a vehicle with one officer who then called 

other officers who were the ones that ultimately completed the traffic stop, see United States v. 

Harris, 585 F.3d 394, 401-402 (7th Cir. 2009); and where a detective advised officers of an 

investigation into drug trafficking and requested they stop the suspect’s car approximately 20 

minutes after observing a drug transaction, see United States v. Nicksion, 628 F.3d 368, 376 (7th 

Cir. 2010). The instances where the Seventh Circuit did not find close communication involved 

situations where there was no communication between the officers with knowledge supporting 

reasonable suspicion and the officers at the scene. See United States v. Ellis, 499 F.3d 686, 690 

(7th Cir. 2007); United States v. Wilbourn, 799 F.3d 900, 909 (7th Cir. 2015) (emphasis added). 

Notably here, the officers’ communication with each other easily qualifies as “close 

communication” as there were multiple forms of communication occurring almost 

simultaneously between Officer Babcock and the surveillance team who observed the traffic 

violations; therefore, the collective knowledge doctrine applies to Mr. Seay’s stop.  

Moreover, Officer Babcock who completed the traffic stop acted in objective reliance on 

the information received from Investigator Shiparski and Detective Henderson. Investigator 
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Shiparski provided the necessary facts to support probable cause to stop Mr. Seay’s vehicle for 

committing traffic violations by failing to come to a complete stop at two stop signs.2 Even 

though Officer Babcock did not personally witness Mr. Seay run through the two stop signs, the 

collective knowledge doctrine enables him to rely on that information from Detective Shiparski. 

Detective Shiparski testified that Mr. Seay’s “vehicle would slow down, however, it [did] not 

come to a complete stop where the stop sign was erected and proceeded through the 

intersection.” [DE 22 at 29]. “Probable cause exists when ‘the circumstances confronting a 

police officer support the reasonable belief that a driver has committed even a minor traffic 

offense.’” United States v. Simon, 937 F.3d 820, 828–29 (7th Cir. 2019) (quoting United States v. 

Cashman, 216 F.3d 582, 586 (7th Cir. 2000)). If an officer reasonably thinks he sees a driver 

commit a traffic infraction, that is a sufficient basis to pull him over without violating the 

Constitution. United States v. Muriel, 418 F.3d 720, 724 (7th Cir. 2005).  

Here, Mr. Seay was witnessed committing two traffic violations following surveillance of 

his activities likely involving drug transactions, which formed the basis for Detective Shiparski’s 

direction to stop his vehicle. Under the totality of the circumstances and following 

communication from Detective Shiparski, probable caused existed for Officer Babcock to stop 

Mr. Seay due to his traffic violations. United States v. Sawyer, 224 F.3d 675, 679 (7th Cir. 2000).  

B. Search of his Person and Vehicle 

As for the intrusiveness of the stop, the Court finds that it was no more intrusive than 

necessary. After initiating the traffic stop, Officer Babcock testified that Mr. Seay told him he 

 
2 A person who drives a vehicle shall stop at an intersection where a stop sign is erected at one (1) or more entrances 
to a through highway that are not a part of the through highway and proceed cautiously, yielding to vehicles that are 
not required to stop. Ind. Code Ann. § 9-21-8-32.  
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did not have a driver’s license, but instead provided his Indiana ID card along with the vehicle’s 

registration. [DE 26 at 40]. As Officer Babcock is checking the BMV records for Mr. Seay’s 

license plate and driving history, Officer Oberle takes his K-9 partner, Axel, around Mr. Seay’s 

vehicle. Id. at 41. Officer Oberle testified that there was a positive alert for narcotics from Axel 

at the driver’s side door of Mr. Seay’s vehicle. Id. at 79. “It is well-established a dog sniff of a 

vehicle's exterior only for illegal drugs during a lawful stop for a traffic violation does not 

infringe Fourth Amendment rights, even absent reasonable suspicion of drugs.” Illinois v. 

Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 410 (2005). As in Caballes, the dog sniff was performed on the exterior 

of respondent's car while he was lawfully seized for a traffic violation. Id. at 209. Following the 

alert from the drug dog, Officer Babcock returned to Mr. Seay’s vehicle and asked him to step 

out of the car before Detective Henderson completed a pat down of his person. And once the 

drug dog alerted to the presence of drugs, the officer had probable cause to search the car. United 

States v. Martin, 422 F.3d 597, 602 (7th Cir. 2005).   

Mr. Seay was not asked to step out of his vehicle until after a positive alert from a trained 

drug dog that occurred shortly after the stop was made. And here, the dog sniff did not prolong 

the stop in any way but was completed simultaneously to a background check being run on Mr. 

Seay’s documentation. See United States v. Lewis, 920 F.3d 483, 491 (7th Cir. 2019). After 

exiting the vehicle at Officer Babcock’s direction, Detective Henderson conducted a pat-down 

and discovered a mason jar in Mr. Seay’s jacket pocket, which he confirmed was marijuana. [DE 

19 at 4]. Following this discovery, Mr. Seay was detained in handcuffs and Detective Henderson 

recovered additional drug paraphernalia from his person. Id. And based on the K-9 alert, Officer 

Oberle conducted a search of Mr. Seay’s vehicle while he was being detained. Thus, “[a]t each 

stage of the investigation, the additional information obtained justified additional investigation.” 
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Martin, 422 F.3d at 602. Moreover, the video evidence from the officers’ body cameras 

corroborate this testimony demonstrating that the entire stop lasted approximately eight minutes 

long before Mr. Seay was transported to MCPD. [Ex. 4]. The dog sniff lasted no more than two 

minutes after Officer Babcock took Mr. Seay’s identification and registration back to his squad 

car. [Ex. 6]. Thus, the stop was no more intrusive than necessary, and Mr. Seay was not detained 

longer than required to secure the scene and search the car.3  

Mr. Seay chiefly contested the fact that the officers were all on a conference call together 

and that Officers Babcock and Oberle were advised of the alleged hand-to-hand drug transaction 

and the alleged traffic offenses in real time. [DE 20 at 2]. Mr. Seay further asserted that the 

information supplied by the government in response to the motion to suppress “completely 

contradict[ed] the background and sequence of events that Officer Babcock and K9 Officer 

Oberle laid out in their separate reports about the traffic stop” and questioned why the alleged 

conference call and police radio contact were not referenced in the report. Id. The Court finds 

that the hearing testimony of the police officers was credible, consistent and reasonably 

explained the inconsistency in the officer’s police reports, i.e., discrepancy about which officer 

had actually witnessed the traffic offense and communicated that information to Officer 

Babcock.  

At the evidentiary hearing, Investigator Shiparski testified that first he and Detective Fish 

contacted Detective Henderson via radio communication on their encrypted frequency before 

calling MCPD Officers Babcock and Oberle via cellphone since the officers did not have access 

to the police radio. [DE 26 at 11-12]. He went on to explain that he had Officers Oberle and 

 
3 The Court also notes that Mr. Seay did not have a driver’s license, meaning it would have been unlawful for him to 
drive away by himself even after the initial traffic stop. See United States v. Fadiga, 858 F.3d 1061, 1063 (7th Cir. 
2017) (holding that a traffic stop was not unreasonably prolonged where the occupants could not lawfully drive 
away in the car). 
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Babcock on the phone through the car’s Bluetooth speaker system while simultaneously 

communicating with Detective Henderson via police radio. Id. at 16. Shiparski further testified 

that he “informed everybody that the vehicle and driver had disregarded those two stop signs . . . 

[and] request[ed] that the vehicle have a traffic stop done on that vehicle by Officer Babcock 

and/or Oberle.” Id. Officer Babcock corroborated this testimony and explained the discrepancy 

in his police report, which stated that Detective Henderson directed him to make the stop instead 

of Investigator Shiparski. At the hearing, Babcock testified that at the time, he believed it was 

Detective Henderson who directed him to make the stop as they “were all speaking on this 

conference call and it was a radio communication, so I was just confused as to who had actually 

viewed it because they’re all talking on the same line.” [DE 26 at 38]. Moreover, Officer Oberle 

testified that he was first contacted by Henderson to be in the area of the police department due 

to the drug surveillance occurring and then stated that he was later contacted by Shiparski and 

Fish via a conference call where he “could hear everybody in the background.” Id. at 75.  

Due to the number of officers involved and the different methods of communication 

utilized, it is understandable that Officers Babcock and Oberle were confused as to who 

communicated the information to them. The Court recognizes that their police reports do not 

describe how the information was communicated to them, but it does not believe that is a critical 

point, rather the focus should be on what was communicated to them. Here, the information 

supporting the probable cause needed to stop Mr. Seay’s vehicle was communicated to the 

officers who made the stop. Furthermore, the testimony provided at the evidentiary hearing was 

credible and clearly demonstrated how the series of events unfolded and how the officers, 

including those with knowledge to support probable cause for the stop, were all in close 
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communication with each other. Therefore, the Court denies Mr. Seay’s motion to suppress as to 

the search of his person and the car. 

III.  CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, the Court DENIES the motion to suppress. [DE 17].  

 SO ORDERED. 
 
 ENTERED:  September 2, 2020 
 
    
                  /s/ JON E. DEGUILIO              
      Chief Judge 
      United States District Court 
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RI OHDYH WKH FRXUWURRP RQ RFFDVLRQ. 6R wKHQ yRX GR, wH'OO MXVW

wDLW IRU yRX.

06. '211(//Y: 8QGHUVWRRG, YRXU HRQRU. , DSSUHFLDWH

LW.

7H( C2857: 1R SUREOHP.

05. -21(6: -XGJH, ,'P DOVR JRLQJ WR REMHFW DW WKH

DSSURSULDWH WLPH DV D PHDQV WR SUHVHUYH WKH UHFRUG, VR , GRQ'W

NQRw wKDW WKH CRXUW wDQWV PH WR VDy.

7H( C2857: 5HODWLYH WR WKH VHDUFK"

05. -21(6: YHDK, UHODWLYH WR WKH VHDUFK DQG

SUHVHUYLQJ WKH LVVXH -- , GRQ'W wDQW WR wDLYH DQy LVVXHV WKDW

DUH VXEMHFW WR WKH PRWLRQ WR VXSSUHVV. ,Q RWKHU wRUGV, , GRQ'W

wDQW WKH CRXUW RI ASSHDOV WR VDy ODWHU WKDW ", NQRw yRX DUJXHG

WKDW DW D PRWLRQ WR VXSSUHVV EXW yRX GLGQ'W FRQWHPSRUDQHRXVOy

REMHFW GXULQJ WKH WULDO."

7H( C2857: 5LJKW.

05. -21(6: ,'P DwDUH RI WKRVH WySH RI LVVXHV.

6R , wRXOG MXVW SODQ RQ VDyLQJ, "'HIHQVH REMHFWV,

VXEMHFW WR RXU REMHFWLRQV RXWOLQHG LQ GRFNHW HQWUy 17," wKLFK

wDV RXU PRWLRQ WR VXSSUHVV, XQOHVV WKH CRXUW QHHGV D PRUH

VSHFLILF REMHFWLRQ.

7H( C2857: 1R, DQG , FRXOG MXVW VDy VRPHWKLQJ JHQHULF

OLNH, "CRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ, WKH REMHFWLRQ LV

RYHUUXOHG."

05. -21(6: YHV.

USDC IN/ND case 3:20-cr-00006-JD-MGG   document 52   filed 10/26/20   page 8 of 170

A21



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

JRannH M. HRffman, FHdHral CHrtifiHd RHaltimH RHpRrtHr

-RDnnHBHRIIPDn@LnnG.XVFRXUtV.JRY

(574)246-8038

9

7H( C2857: 2NDy.

05. -21(6: , GRQ'W SODQ WR XVH WKH wRUGV "PRWLRQ" RU

"VXSSUHVV" RU DQyWKLQJ OLNH WKDW. , wDV JRLQJ WR UHIHU WR

LW -- , EHOLHYH LW'V GRFNHW HQWUy 17.

7H( C2857: )RU WKH UHFRUG, yRX'YH PDGH FOHDU wKDW

WKDW REMHFWLRQ LV JRLQJ WR EH DERXW VR --

05. -21(6: 2NDy.

7H( C2857: -- KRSHIXOOy WKDW HVWDEOLVKHV D VXIILFLHQW

UHFRUG.

AQyWKLQJ HOVH, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: 1R, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 0V. 'RQQHOOy"

06. '211(//Y: 1R, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: :H FDQ EULQJ LQ WKH MXUy.

7KDQN yRX, -RKQ.

(-XUy LQ DW 12:47 S.P.)

7H( C2857: 3OHDVH EH VHDWHG.

/DGLHV DQG JHQWOHPHQ RI WKH MXUy, wHOFRPH EDFN. ,

KRSH yRX KDG D QLFH OXQFK. , MXVW wDQW WR TXLFNOy FRQILUP

HYHUyERGy LV LQ WKHLU VSRW.

YRX'UH QXPEHU 19, VLU, 0U. 'REEV"

-8525: YHV.

7H( C2857: AQG 17 DQG 11.

(5HVSHFWLYH MXURUV QRG LQ WKH DIILUPDWLYH.)

7H( C2857: 9HUy JRRG.
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Q. 7HOO XV wKDW CRUSRUDO 2EHUOH GRHV.

A. CRUSRUDO 2EHUOH LV DW WKH WLPH D .-9 KDQGOHU wLWK WKH

0LFKLJDQ CLWy 3ROLFH 'HSDUWPHQW.

Q. :KDW DERXW 'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ"

A. 'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ wRUNV wLWK PH LQ WKH 'HWHFWLYH BXUHDX.

Q. 1Rw, wKHQ wH VWDUWHG WKLV, wH VDLG WKDW wLWK DOO RI WKLV

VXUYHLOODQFH yRX wHUH LQ yRXU FDU DERXW 4:00 S.P.; LV WKDW

FRUUHFW"

A. CRUUHFW.

Q. :KDW WLPH GLG yRX DFWXDOOy VHH WKH WUDIILF LQIUDFWLRQV"

A. 7KDW wDV DSSURxLPDWHOy 5:00 S.P.

Q. AIWHU yRX FRQWDFWHG 2IILFHUV BDEFRFN, 2EHUOH, DQG

HHQGHUVRQ, wKDW KDSSHQHG QHxW"

A. 0RPHQWV DIWHU DGYLVLQJ WKHP RI WKH WUDIILF LQIUDFWLRQV WKDW

, REVHUYHG, 2IILFHU BDEFRFN wDV DEOH WR FRQGXFW WKDW WUDIILF

VWRS ULJKW QHDU WKH LQWHUVHFWLRQ RI 7KXUPDQ DQG 3RSODU 6WUHHW.

05. -21(6: -XGJH, ,'P JRLQJ WR LQWHUSRVH DQ REMHFWLRQ

WR WKH ODVW TXHVWLRQ DQG WKDW DQVwHU EDVHG RQ WKH

RXWVLGH-WKH-MXUy'V-SUHVHQFH GLVFXVVLRQ WKDW wH KDG EHIRUH WKH

WULDO EHJDQ.

7H( C2857: CDQ wH JR RQ RXU KHDGVHWV WR WDON DERXW

WKDW"

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRQ KHOG Ey KHDGVHW DV IROORwV:)

0U. -RQHV, HxSODLQ WKDW WR PH.

05. -21(6: -XGJH, LW'V HYLGHQFH RI WKH WUDIILF VWRS
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DQG WKH UHDVRQ IRU WKH WUDIILF VWRS, DQG ,'P MXVW WUyLQJ WR

SUHVHUYH -- ,'P QRW WUyLQJ WR LQWHUUXSW 0U. 0F.HHYHU. ,'P MXVW

WUyLQJ WR SUHVHUYH WKH REMHFWLRQ KHUH.

7H( C2857: 2K, WKLV LV WKH REMHFWLRQ WKDW wH WDONHG

DERXW EHIRUH wH EURXJKW WKH MXUy LQ"

05. -21(6: ,W LV, -XGJH.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. , MXVW wDQWHG WR FODULIy. 6R wH'OO

JR EDFN -- wH'UH RQ WKH UHFRUG, REYLRXVOy, EXW LQ WKH SUHVHQFH

RI WKH MXUy, ,'OO LQGLFDWH WKDW WKH REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK Py SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ.

05. -21(6: -XGJH, LI , PDNH DQ REMHFWLRQ WKDW GRHV

QRW UHYROYH DURXQG GRFNHW HQWUy 17, ,'OO EH YHUy FOHDU WKDW

LW'V D GLIIHUHQW WySH RI DQ REMHFWLRQ.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. 7KDQN yRX, 0U. -RQHV.

05. -21(6: 7KDQN yRX.

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRQ KHOG Ey KHDGVHW FRQFOXGHG.)

7H( C2857: CRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV

UXOLQJ, WKH REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG.

3OHDVH SURFHHG, 0U. 0F.HHYHU.

BY 05. 0F.((9(5:

Q. 2IILFHU 6KLSDUVNL, GR yRX wDQW PH WR UHSHDW WKH TXHVWLRQ

IRU yRX"

A. 6XUH.

Q. AIWHU yRX FRQWDFWHG 2IILFHUV 2EHUOH, BDEFRFN, DQG

HHQGHUVRQ, wKDW KDSSHQHG QHxW"
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A. YHV. ,W wDV D EODFN 1LVVDQ wLWK GDUN-WLQWHG wLQGRwV DQG KH

DOVR JDYH WKH SODWH GHVFULSWLRQ.

Q. :KHUH GLG yRX JR DW WKDW WLPH"

A. 6R DW WKDW WLPH , GURYH GRwQ 7UHPRQW WR (OP DQG WKHQ VRXWK

RQ (OP wKHUH wH IRXQG WKH YHKLFOH DQG , LQLWLDWHG WKH VWRS.

Q. AQG wKHUH GLG yRX XOWLPDWHOy SXOO WKDW GDUN 1LVVDQ RYHU"

A. 1HDU 7KXUPDQ DQG 3RSODU.

Q. AQG FDQ yRX, DJDLQ, , JXHVV wLWK DQ ";" WKLV WLPH VLQFH wH

XVHG D FLUFOH WKH ODVW WLPH, GUDw WKH DSSURxLPDWH ORFDWLRQ

wKHUH yRX SXOOHG WKH FDU RYHU.

A. 5LJKW --

05. -21(6: -XGJH, ,'P JRLQJ WR LQWHUSRVH WKH VDPH

REMHFWLRQ , PDGH WKH ODVW WLPH.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. AJDLQ, WKH REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ.

A. (,QGLFDWLQJ.)

BY 06. '211(//Y:

Q. AQG GLG WKH FDU DFWXDOOy SXOO RYHU wKHQ yRX SXOOHG LW RYHU"

A. -XVW SULRU WR PH DFWLYDWLQJ Py OLJKWV, WKH FDU KDG DOUHDGy

SXOOHG WR WKH VLGH RI WKH URDG.

Q. AQG WKH ORFDWLRQ wKHUH WKLV KDSSHQHG LQ 0LFKLJDQ CLWy, wDV

WKLV wLWKLQ WKH 1RUWKHUQ 'LVWULFW RI ,QGLDQD"

A. YHV.

Q. 2Q 'HFHPEHU 9WK RI 2019, wHUH yRX wHDULQJ D YLGHR UHFRUGLQJ

GHYLFH RQ yRXU XQLIRUP, VRPHWLPHV wKDW'V FDOOHG D ERGy FDPHUD"
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A. YHV.

Q. AQG GLG yRX KDYH LW RQ wKHQ yRX VWDUWHG WKLV WUDIILF VWRS"

A. YHV.

Q. ,'P JRLQJ WR KROG XS D GLVN, *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 2, DQG

DVN WKDW WKLV VFUHHQ JR EODQN. AOVR VKRw yRX WKH ILUVW VFUHHQ

WKDW LV MXVW YLHwDEOH WR yRX ULJKW QRw RI D UHFRUGLQJ.

HDYH yRX SUHYLRXVOy wDWFKHG WKLV DSSURxLPDWHOy

WKUHH-DQG-D-KDOI-PLQXWH ORQJ UHFRUGLQJ"

A. YHV.

Q. AQG LV WKDW D FOLS IURP yRXU ERGy FDPHUD UHFRUGLQJ GHYLFH

RQ 'HFHPEHU 9WK RI 2019"

A. YHV.

Q. 'RHV LW WUXOy DQG DFFXUDWHOy GHSLFW wKDW KDSSHQHG DQG wKDW

yRX VDw GXULQJ WKLV WUDIILF VWRS"

A. YHV.

Q. ,V LW IDLU WR VDy WKDW wKDW'V EHHQ PDUNHG DV *RYHUQPHQW'V

(xKLELW 2 LV D SRUWLRQ RI wKDW yRX UHFRUGHG WKDW QLJKW, QRW WKH

HQWLUH ORQJ UHFRUGLQJ; LV WKDW ULJKW"

A. CRUUHFW.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, , wRXOG VHHN WR DGPLW

*RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 1XPEHU 2.

7H( C2857: AQy REMHFWLRQ, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: 6DPH REMHFWLRQ DV EHIRUH, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 1RQH RWKHU WKDQ WKDW"

05. -21(6: 1RQH RWKHU WKDQ WKDW.
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7H( C2857: 2NDy. *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 2 LV DGPLWWHG

RYHU WKH REMHFWLRQ, FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV

UXOLQJ.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, , wRXOG VHHN OHDYH WR

SXEOLVK DQG SDXVH D IHw WLPHV GXULQJ WKLV UHFRUGLQJ WR DVN WKH

RIILFHU TXHVWLRQV.

7H( C2857: *UDQWHG.

(9LGHR SXEOLVKHG.)

BY 06. '211(//Y:

Q. 1Rw, wH'UH ORRNLQJ DW MXVW WKH EHJLQQLQJ RI WKLV FOLS, DQG

LW VKRwV D WLPH LQ WKH XSSHU ULJKW-KDQG FRUQHU RI 23:03:59.

1Rw, wDV WKDW WLPH DFFXUDWH WR wKHQ yRX SXOOHG WKLV FDU RYHU"

A. 1R.

Q. AQG yRX VDLG yRX SXOOHG LW RYHU D OLWWOH DIWHU 5:00 S.P."

A. YHV.

Q. CDQ yRX HxSODLQ wKy WKH GLVFUHSDQFy EHWwHHQ WKH DFWXDO WLPH

DQG WKH UHFRUGLQJ GHYLFH"

A. ,'P QRW VXUH HxDFWOy wKy LW GLVSODyV WKDW WLPH, EXW WKDW'V

DQ LVVXH wLWK AxRQ, WKH ERGy FDPHUD FRPSDQy.

Q. ,V WKDW wKy wKHUH WKHUH'V RWKHU ORFDWLRQV wKHUH yRX wULWH

WLPHV GRwQ WR PDNH VXUH WKDW WKDW'V DFFXUDWH"

A. YHV.

Q. 1Rw, ,'P JRLQJ WR SODy DJDLQ KHUH.

(9LGHR SXEOLVKHG.)

Q. ,'P SDXVLQJ KHUH, DJDLQ, MXVW D IHw VHFRQGV ODWHU,
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05. 0F.((9(5: YRXU HRQRU, wH RIIHU *RYHUQPHQW'V

(xKLELW 3 LQWR HYLGHQFH.

7H( C2857: 0U. -RQHV, DQy REMHFWLRQ"

05. -21(6: 6DPH REMHFWLRQ DV EHIRUH, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. 7KH REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ. *RYHUQPHQW'V

(xKLELW 3 LV DGPLWWHG.

05. 0F.((9(5: 3HUPLVVLRQ WR SXEOLVK"

7H( C2857: YRX PDy.

05. 0F.((9(5: YRXU HRQRU, FDQ wH SXEOLVK WKH YLGHR

QRw"

7H( C2857: YRX PDy.

(9LGHR SXEOLVKHG.)

BY 05. 0F.((9(5:

Q. CRUSRUDO 2EHUOH, wH'UH ORRNLQJ ULJKW QRw DW MXVW WKH ILUVW

VHFRQG RI WKDW FOLS. YRX VHH XS RQ WKH WRS ULJKW-KDQG FRUQHU

WKHUH --

A. YHV, VLU.

Q. -- LW VDyV 2019-12-09. ,V WKDW WKH GDWH RI WKLV UHFRUGLQJ"

A. YHV.

Q. AQG QHxW WR WKDW LW KDV D WLPHVWDPS RI 23:04:12. 'R yRX

VHH WKDW"

A. , GR.

Q. :KDW WLPH GRHV WKDW PHDQ"

A. 7KDW wRXOG EH 11:04.
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Q. CRUSRUDO, ,'P JRLQJ WR DSSURDFK yRX wLWK WKH OLG RI D

EDQNHUV ERx. ,'P KDQGLQJ WKDW WR yRX. ,QVLGH WKH OLG RI WKDW

EDQNHUV ERx, wH KDYH wKDW'V EHHQ LGHQWLILHG DV (xKLELWV 4A DQG

4B. 'R yRX VHH WKRVH"

A. , GR.

Q. 'R yRX UHFRJQLzH wKDW (xKLELWV 4A DQG 4B DUH"

A. 4A DQG 4B LV WKH ILUHDUP DQG WKH PDJDzLQH WKDW wDV

UHFRYHUHG IURP WKH IURQW SDVVHQJHU VHDW.

Q. HRw FDQ yRX LGHQWLIy LW"

A. By WKH VHULDO QXPEHU DQG RWKHU PDUNLQJV RQ WKH ILUHDUP.

Q. AUH (xKLELWV 4A DQG 4B LQ WKH VDPH RU VXEVWDQWLDOOy WKH

VDPH FRQGLWLRQ DV wKHQ yRX IRXQG WKHP XQGHU WKH SDVVHQJHU VHDW

LQ 0U. 6HDy'V FDU RQ 'HFHPEHU 9WK, 2019"

A. YHV, LW ORRNV WR EH.

05. 0F.((9(5: YRXU HRQRU, wH RIIHU (xKLELWV 4A DQG 4B

LQWR HYLGHQFH.

7H( C2857: AQy REMHFWLRQ, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: YHV, YRXU HRQRU, DV VWDWHG EHIRUH.

7H( C2857: 1R RWKHU EDVLV"

05. -21(6: 1R RWKHU EDVLV.

7H( C2857: AJDLQ, FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V

SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ, WKH CRXUW RYHUUXOHV WKH REMHFWLRQ, DQG

*RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 4A DQG 4B --

05. 0F.((9(5: YHV.

7H( C2857: -- DUH DGPLWWHG.
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Q. 7KDW'V WKH DQJOH WKH FDPHUD DFWXDOOy VHHV wKHQ yRX SODy D

UHFRUGLQJ"

A. YHV, GLUHFWOy LQ IURQW RI PH.

Q. ,Q DGGLWLRQ WR WKLV (xKLELW 3, wKLFK LV WKLV ILYH-PLQXWH RU

VR FOLS WKDW wH SODyHG IRU WKH MXUy, GLG yRX UHYLHw yRXU HQWLUH

ERGy FDP YLGHR IURP 'HFHPEHU 9WK, 2019"

A. YHV.

Q. 'LG WKDW HQWLUH ERGy FDP YLGHR IDLUOy DQG DFFXUDWHOy GHSLFW

wKDW yRX VDw DQG KHDUG RQ 'HFHPEHU 9WK, 2019, GXULQJ WKDW

WUDIILF VWRS"

A. YHV.

05. 0F.((9(5: YRXU HRQRU, wH RIIHU (xKLELW 3A LQWR

HYLGHQFH, wKLFK wRXOG EH WKH HQWLUHWy RI WKH ERGy FDP

UHFRUGLQJ.

7H( C2857: AQy REMHFWLRQ, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: -XGJH, ,'P JRLQJ WR LQWHUSRVH WKH VDPH

REMHFWLRQ WKDW , GLG EHIRUH IRU WKH UHDVRQV , VWDWHG EHIRUH,

EXW , GRQ'W KDYH DQ REMHFWLRQ WR WKH FRPSOHWHQHVV GRFWULQH WKDW

WKH JRYHUQPHQW LV WUyLQJ WR -- WKH UHFRUG VKRXOG EH FRPSOHWH

wLWK WKH HQWLUH ERGy FDP, EXW , DOVR REMHFW WR WKH HQWLUH ERGy

FDP, LI WKDW PDNHV DQy OHJDO VHQVH.

7H( C2857: 6R yRX'YH UHYLHwHG WKH HQWLUHWy RI WKH

ERGy FDP"

05. -21(6: :H'YH EHHQ SURYLGHG WKDW, yHV, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: AQG yRX KDYH QR REMHFWLRQ RWKHU WKDQ WKH
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RQH yRX'YH SRVHG UHJXODUOy WKURXJKRXW WULDO"

05. -21(6: CRUUHFW.

7H( C2857: CDQ wH GRQ RXU KHDGVHWV"

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRQ KHOG Ey KHDGVHW DV IROORwV:)

7H( C2857: 0U. 0F.HHYHU, wKDW GR yRX DQWLFLSDWH WKH

ERGy FDPHUD LV JRLQJ WR VKRw XV" YRX FDQ'W KHDU PH" CDQ yRX

KHDU PH QRw"

(CRXQVHO FRQIHU RII WKH UHFRUG.)

06. '211(//Y: CDQ yRX KHDU PH, YRXU HRQRU"

7H( C2857: YHV.

06. '211(//Y: , EHOLHYH RXU LQWHQWLRQ DW WKLV SRLQW

LV WR DGPLW WKH HxKLELW EXW QRW SXEOLVK LW.

7H( C2857: 'R yRX LQWHQG WR SXEOLVK LW DW VRPH SRLQW"

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, RXU WKRXJKW EHKLQG

DGPLWWLQJ LW wDV GXH WR FRXQVHO'V TXHVWLRQV. 2EYLRXVOy WKH

MXUy LV JRLQJ WR KDYH DOO RI WKH HxKLELWV LQ WKH MXUy URRP IRU

GHOLEHUDWLRQ SXUSRVHV. ,I WKHy wLVK WR YLHw LW DW WKDW SRLQW,

WR VHH, VLQFH WKH TXHVWLRQ KDV EHHQ UDLVHG, wKDW WKHy FRXOG VHH

RQ LW.

7H( C2857: 'R yRX DQWLFLSDWH WKDW WKLV UHFRUGLQJ

wRXOG, LQ IDFW, VKRw WKH ILUHDUP RU DPPXQLWLRQ LQ WKH YHKLFOH"

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, LW wRXOG QRW VKRw WKH

ILUHDUP RU DPPXQLWLRQ LQ WKH YHKLFOH wKHUH KH IRXQG LW.

'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ RQ WKH YLGHR DVNV 2IILFHU 2EHUOH wKHWKHU KH

FDSWXUHG WKH ORFDWLRQ RI WKH JXQ RQ KLV ERGy FDPHUD. 2IILFHU
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2EHUOH DQVwHUV yHV. 6R 'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ HVVHQWLDOOy VDyV --

yRX NQRw, WKHy WDON DERXW KRw WKHy'UH JRLQJ WR JDWKHU WKH

HYLGHQFH, EXW 'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ LQ HVVHQFH FRQILUPHG WKDW WKH

RULJLQDO ORFDWLRQ RI WKH ILUHDUP wDV FDSWXUHG RQ VRPH WySH RI

GHYLFH.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. 6R yRX'UH MXVW PDNLQJ WKLV HYLGHQFH

DYDLODEOH IRU WKH MXUy LI DW VRPH SRLQW WKHy wDQW WR UHYLHw LW"

06. '211(//Y: CRUUHFW, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 2NDy.

06. '211(//Y: ,Q WHUPV RI wKHWKHU LW wRXOG EH

SXEOLVKHG LQ WHUPV RI FORVLQJ DUJXPHQW, , GRQ'W DQWLFLSDWH WKDW

DW WKLV SRLQW. 7KDW wLOO EH VRPHWKLQJ 0U. 0F.HHYHU DQG , wLOO

GLVFXVV WKLV HYHQLQJ.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. AJDLQ, 0U. -RQHV, yRXU RQOy

REMHFWLRQ LV WKH VDPH WKDW yRX'YH EHHQ SRVLQJ WKURXJKRXW WKH

FRXUVH RI WKH WULDO"

05. -21(6: CRUUHFW.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. 7KDQN yRX.

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRQ KHOG Ey KHDGVHW FRQFOXGHG.)

7H( C2857: 'HIHQGDQW'V REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SULRU UXOLQJ. *RYHUQPHQW'V

(xKLELW 3A LV DGPLWWHG.

05. 0F.((9(5: YRXU HRQRU, WKDW'V DOO WKH TXHVWLRQV wH

KDYH.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. AQy IXUWKHU FURVV, 0U. -RQHV"
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Q. :KDW DUH WKHy"

A. 7KHy DUH SKRWRJUDSKV RI WKH ILUHDUP WKDW wDV UHFRYHUHG IURP

XQGHUQHDWK WKH IURQW SDVVHQJHU VHDW DORQJ wLWK WKH PDJDzLQH

WKDW wDV UHFRYHUHG IURP WKH FHQWHU FRQVROH.

Q. AUH WKRVH DOO SKRWRJUDSKV WKDW yRX WRRN RQFH yRX KDG

UHWXUQHG WR WKH SROLFH VWDWLRQ"

A. 7KHy DUH.

Q. 'R DOO RI WKRVH SLFWXUHV WUXOy DQG DFFXUDWHOy GHSLFW WKH

HYLGHQFH DV yRX KDG FROOHFWHG LW DQG wKLOH yRX wHUH SURFHVVLQJ

LW RQ 'HFHPEHU 9WK, 2019"

A. 7KHy GR.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, , wRXOG VHHN WR DGPLW

*RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELWV 6 WKURXJK 10 LQWR HYLGHQFH.

7H( C2857: 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: 6XEMHFW WR WKH VDPH REMHFWLRQ, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 1R RWKHUV"

05. -21(6: 1R RWKHUV.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELWV 6 WKURXJK 10

DUH DGPLWWHG. 7KH GHIHQGDQW'V REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SULRU UXOLQJ.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, , wRXOG DOVR VHHN OHDYH WR

DSSURDFK WKH wLWQHVVHV.

7H( C2857: YRX PDy.

BY 06. '211(//Y:

Q. 'HWHFWLYH HHQGHUVRQ, ,'P DOVR JRLQJ WR EH KDQGLQJ WR yRX
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A. , GLG.

Q. :KHQ GLG yRX PDNH LW"

A. 7KLV PRUQLQJ.

Q. AQG GLG yRX PDNH LW WKLV PRUQLQJ LQ SUHSDUDWLRQ IRU yRXU

WHVWLPRQy KHUH WRGDy"

A. YHV, PD'DP, , GLG.

Q. 3ULRU WR WKDW FXW EHLQJ LQ WKDW HYLGHQFH EDJ, wDV LW LQ D

VHDOHG FRQGLWLRQ"

A. YHV, PD'DP, LW wDV.

Q. :DV LW LQ WKH VDPH FRQGLWLRQ LW KDG EHHQ LQ DIWHU yRX WRRN

DOO RI WKHVH SKRWRV DQG SURFHVVHG WKH HYLGHQFH RQ 'HFHPEHU 9WK,

2019"

A. ,W wDV.

Q. HRw RQ WKH VHDOLQJ RQ WKH RXWVLGH RI WKDW EDJ DUH yRX DEOH

WR WHOO"

A. 'XH WR WKH LQWHJULWy RI WKH VHDO WKDW'V SODFHG RQ ERWK

VLGHV, DORQJ wLWK WDSHG HGJHV, yRX'OO VHH WKDW Py LQLWLDOV DUH

SODFHG RQ WKH WRS DQG ERWWRP RQ ERWK VLGHV DQG RQ ERWK HGJHV RI

WKH IURQW.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, WKH JRYHUQPHQW wRXOG VHHN

WR DGPLW (xKLELW 5.

7H( C2857: AQy REMHFWLRQ, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: 6DPH DV EHIRUH, YRXU HRQRU. 1R RWKHU

REMHFWLRQ WKRXJK.

7H( C2857: *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 5 LV DGPLWWHG, DQG
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WKH GHIHQGDQW'V REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH

CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ.

BY 06. '211(//Y:

Q. 2WKHU WKDQ SKRWRJUDSKLQJ WKHVH LWHPV, LV WKHUH VRPHWKLQJ

HOVH WKDW yRX GLG wLWK ERWK WKH JXQ, WKH HxWHQGHG PDJDzLQH, DQG

WKH VWDQGDUG UHJXODU PDJDzLQH"

A. , GLG. 7KHy wHUH SURFHVVHG IRU '1A.

Q. CDQ yRX HxSODLQ WR WKH MXURUV KRw DQG wKDW yRX GLG WR GR

WKDW.

A. 6SHFLILFDOOy, wLWK ILUHDUPV, FRWWRQ-WLSSHG DSSOLFDWRUV YHUy

VLPLODU WR D 4-WLS DUH XWLOLzHG LQ FRPELQDWLRQ wLWK D VDOLQH

VROXWLRQ. 6wDEV DUH WKHQ REWDLQHG IURP WKH JULS, WKH VOLGH,

DQG WKH WULJJHU RI WKH ILUHDUP. 7KHy'UH WySLFDOOy UHWDLQHG IRU

IXWXUH FRPSDULVRQ SXUSRVHV, DQG WKHy'UH VHDOHG LQ WKHLU RwQ

HYLGHQFH EDJV DV WKH PDJDzLQH wDV wLWK LQWHJULWy IRU WKHPVHOYHV

DV wHOO.

Q. 6R DOO RI WKRVH LWHPV wHUH VwDEEHG IRU '1A DQG wHUH WKHy

WKHQ SXW LQWR VHFXUHG HYLGHQFH"

A. 7KHy wHUH.

Q. AIWHU yRX SURFHVVHG WKH HYLGHQFH, GLG yRX PHHW wLWK 5DSKHDO

6HDy"

A. , GLG.

Q. :KR HOVH wDV wLWK yRX wKHQ yRX PHW wLWK KLP"

A. CRUSRUDO 6KLSDUVNL.

Q. AQG wKHUH GLG yRX PHHW wLWK KLP"
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A. 7KHy GR.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, DW WKLV SRLQW, , wRXOG VHHN

OHDYH WR DGPLW *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELWV 11A WKURXJK '.

7H( C2857: AQy REMHFWLRQ, 0U. -RQHV"

05. -21(6: 7KH VLQJOH REMHFWLRQ , KDYH LV WKH RQH

WKDW ,'YH DOUHDGy VWDWHG, YRXU HRQRU.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. YRX'YH UHYLHwHG WKHVH FOLSV"

05. -21(6: , KDYH EHHQ SURYLGHG, yHV, DQG UHYLHwHG

WKHP.

7H( C2857: 2NDy. 'HIHQGDQW'V REMHFWLRQ LV RYHUUXOHG

FRQVLVWHQW wLWK WKH CRXUW'V SUHYLRXV UXOLQJ, DQG *RYHUQPHQW'V

(xKLELWV 11A WKURXJK ' DUH DGPLWWHG.

06. '211(//Y: YRXU HRQRU, , wRXOG VHHN OHDYH WR

SXEOLVK WKH FOLSV GXULQJ WKH WHVWLPRQy.

7H( C2857: YRX PDy.

BY 06. '211(//Y:

Q. )LUVW, WXUQLQJ WR *RYHUQPHQW'V (xKLELW 11A. AW WKH

EHJLQQLQJ RI yRXU FRQYHUVDWLRQ wLWK 0U. 6HDy, wDV KH DGYLVHG RI

DQyWKLQJ"

A. HH wDV, KLV FRQVWLWXWLRQDO ULJKWV.

Q. AQG WKLV ILUVW FOLS WKDW wH'UH JRLQJ WR ORRN DW, LV WKDW

DERXW D PLQXWH DQG D KDOI ORQJ, PDyEH D OLWWOH ORQJHU"

A. ,W LV.

Q. AOO ULJKW. 3XEOLVKLQJ 11A.

(9LGHR SXEOLVKHG.)
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,1 THE U1,TE' 6TATE6 ',6T5,CT C2U5T
)25 THE 125THE51 ',6T5,CT 2) ,1',A1A

62UTH BE1' ',9,6,21

U1,TE' 6TATE6 2) A0E5,CA

YV.

5A3HEAL 6EAY,

'HIHnGDnW.

BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CDuVH 1R.:
3:20-FU-0006--'-1

6RuWK BHnG, ,nGLDnD
2FWREHU 6, 2020

92LU0E ,,
T5A16C5,3T 2) -U5Y T5,AL

BE)25E THE H2125ABLE -21 E. 'EGU,L,2

A33EA5A1CE6:

)RU WKH GRYHUnPHnW: 06. 02LLY E. '211ELLY
05. -E520E :. 0F.EE9E5
UnLWHG 6WDWHV AWWRUnHy'V 2IILFH
001 )HGHUDO BuLOGLnJ
204 6RuWK 0DLn 6WUHHW
6RuWK BHnG, ,1 46601

)RU WKH 'HIHnGDnW: 05. 'A9,' 3. -21E6
1HwEy LHwLV .DPLnVNL -RnHV LL3
916 LLnFROnwDy
LD3RUWH, ,1 46350
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GLUHFWHG nRW WR FRnVLGHU WKH OHJDOLWy RI WKH VHDUFK DnG VWRS.

$V wHOO DV U.S. v. CunninghDP, UHSRUWHG DW 462 ).3G 708, D

GHFLVLRn wULWWHn Ey -XGJH .DnnH RXW RI WKH 6HYHnWK &LUFXLW.

6R, DJDLn, MXVW D VPDWWHULnJ RI FDVHV WKDW NLnG RI

WDON DERXW WKLV LVVXH DnG, IRU wKDW LW'V wRUWK, FRnILUP wKDW ,

WKLnN wH DOO FDPH WR FRnFOXGH yHVWHUGDy, RU EHOLHYH, WKDW LW'V

nRW DSSURSULDWH IRU D MXUy WR EH GHFLGLnJ WKH OHJDOLWy RI VWRSV

DnG VHDUFKHV. 7KDW'V D TXHVWLRn RI ODw DnG WKDW'V IRU WKH

&RXUW.

, WKLnN, ODVWOy, DV , XnGHUVWDnG LW, WKH JRYHUnPHnW'V

JRLnJ WR SUHVHnW 6SHFLDO $JHnW -RKnVRn DV WKH LnWHUVWDWH nH[XV

wLWnHVV DnG WKHn UHVW"

06. '211(LLY: 7KDW LV FRUUHFW, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 7KHn, DW WKDW SRLnW, GR yRX

DnWLFLSDWH Dny PRWLRnV, 0U. -RnHV"

05. -21(6: -XGJH, , DnWLFLSDWH D PRWLRn WKDW'V

LGHnWLFDO WR GRFNHW HnWUy 17, MXVW WR SUHVHUYH WKH HUURU.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. $nG WKDW'V LW"

05. -21(6: 7KDW'V LW.

7H( &2857: $nG WKHn, REYLRXVOy, JLYHn WKH SULRU

UXOLnJ, ,'OO GHny WKH REMHFWLRn FRnVLVWHnW wLWK WKH SUHYLRXV

UXOLnJ.

'R yRX DnWLFLSDWH SUHVHnWLnJ Dny HYLGHnFH"

05. -21(6: 1R, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 0U. 6HDy wLOO nRW WHVWLIy"
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7H( :,71(66: 7KDnN yRX, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 0V. 'RnnHOOy, GRHV WKH JRYHUnPHnW KDYH Dny

DGGLWLRnDO HYLGHnFH"

06. '211(LLY: :H GR nRW, YRXU HRnRU. 7KH 8nLWHG

6WDWHV UHVWV.

7H( &2857: 7KDnN yRX, 0V. 'RnnHOOy.

0U. -RnHV, GR yRX KDYH Dny PRWLRnV"

05. -21(6: YHV, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 'R yRX wDnW WR PDNH LW --

05. -21(6: HHDGVHW"

7H( &2857: YHV. 7KDnN yRX.

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRn KHOG Ey KHDGVHW DV IROORwV:)

05. -21(6: &Dn yRX KHDU PH, YRXU HRnRU"

7H( &2857: YHV, , FDn, 0U. -RnHV.

05. -21(6: YRXU HRnRU, wH wRXOG PRYH IRU D GLUHFWHG

YHUGLFW, WKLV WLPH EDVHG Rn WKH WHVWLPRny RI WKH RIILFHUV DnG

Ln OLnH DnG LnFRUSRUDWH Ey UHIHUHnFH RXU PRWLRn WR VXSSUHVV,

wKLFK wDV GRFNHW HnWUy 17, DnG DVN WKDW yRX GLUHFW WKDW

0U. 6HDy EH IRXnG nRW JXLOWy.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 6R yRX DUH, Ln IDFW, PDNLnJ D

PRWLRn XnGHU 5XOH 29"

05. -21(6: YHV, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 2K, RNDy. :LWK WKDW WKHn, , WKLnN ,'P

JRLnJ WR H[FXVH WKH MXUy. ,W'V MXVW HDVLHU WR KHDU DUJXPHnW

DnG PDNH Py UXOLnJ RXWVLGH WKHLU SUHVHnFH. 6R OHW PH GR WKDW.
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05. -21(6: -XGJH, , FDn WHOO yRX WKDW , GRn'W KDYH

Dny DGGLWLRnDO DUJXPHnW. , GRn'W WKLnN WKHUH'V Dny nHw JURXnG

WR EH WUHDG KHUH EDVHG Rn DOO RI WKH HYLGHnFH yRX KHDUG DW WKH

VXSSUHVVLRn, wKLFK LV SDUW RI WKH UHFRUG, DnG WKH HYLGHnFH WKDW

yRX KHDUG WRGDy. , GRn'W KDYH Dny DGGLWLRnDO OHJDO WKHRULHV WR

SUHVHnW WR WKH &RXUW.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 0V. 'RnnHOOy, GR yRX wDnW WR EH

KHDUG Rn WKH LVVXH"

06. '211(LLY: YRXU HRnRU, , wRXOG MXVW VDy EULHIOy DV

WR WKH IRXU HOHPHnWV RI WKH FULPH, ILUVW DV WR SRVVHVVLRn,

0U. 6HDy wDV DORnH Ln D YHKLFOH wLWK WKH ILUHDUP DnG KH ODWHU

FRnIHVVHG WR EULnJLnJ LW LnWR WKH FDU DnG WR WKH GHWDLOV RI

wKHUH KH ERXJKW LW, wKHn KH ERXJKW LW, DV wHOO DV GHVFULELnJ

WKH ILUHDUP LWVHOI.

$V WR KLV VWDWXV DV D IHORn DnG NnRwOHGJH RI VXFK

VWDWXV, KH KDV PXOWLSOH SULRU IHORny FRnYLFWLRnV wKLFK wHUH

DGPLWWHG LnWR HYLGHnFH. HH VHUYHG WHUPV RI VL[ yHDUV, HLJKW

yHDUV, WwR DnG D KDOI yHDUV, DnG 30 PRnWKV RI LPSULVRnPHnW.

7KH 365 OHWWHU UHYLHwHG wLWK 0U. 'L0LFKHOH VDLG VSHFLILFDOOy,

"$V D FRnYLFWHG IHORn, , XnGHUVWDnG WKDW , FDnnRW SRVVHVV D

ILUHDUP."

7KHUH DUH PXOWLSOH wDyV Ln wKLFK wH KDYH VKRwn KH wDV

D IHORn DnG KH NnHw KH wDV.

$V WR WKH IRXUWK, WKH LnWHUVWDWH nH[XV, 6SHFLDO $JHnW

-RKnVRn KDV MXVW WHVWLILHG WKDW WKH JXn FDPH IURP BUD]LO WR
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)ORULGD WR ,OOLnRLV WR ,nGLDnD Ln 2019, WKXV PHHWLnJ WKDW

HOHPHnW DV wHOO.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 7KDnN yRX, 0V. 'RnnHOOy.

$V LV WySLFDOOy Py SUDFWLFH, , KDYH D UXOLnJ WKDW ,'P

JRLnJ WR HnWHU. ,W'V SUREDEOy PXFK PRUH IRUPDO WKDn , nHHG WR

PDNH, EXW WKDW'V KRw , GR LW.

6R wKDW ,'P JRLnJ WR GR LV ,'P JRLnJ WR H[FXVH WKH

MXUy VR , FDn LnGLFDWH wKDW Py UXOLnJ LV VSHFLILF WR HDFK

HOHPHnW DnG WKH HYLGHnFH WKDW , EHOLHYH LV VXIILFLHnW WR

VXSSRUW LW IRU SXUSRVHV RI 5XOH 29. $nG WKHn , WKLnN ,'OO

DIIRUG FRXnVHO D ELW RI WLPH WKHn WR SUHSDUH IRU FORVLnJ, EULnJ

WKH MXUy EDFN, DVN WKH GHIHnGDnW LI KH KDV Dny HYLGHnFH WR

SUHVHnW, wKLFK , DVVXPH yRX wLOO VDy nR. 'R yRX UHVW" YHV.

$nG WKHn JR VWUDLJKW WR FORVLnJ.

'RHV WKDW wRUN IRU yRX, 0U. -RnHV"

05. -21(6: ,W GRHV, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 0V. 'RnnHOOy"

06. '211(LLY: YHV, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. 9HUy JRRG.

(6LGHEDU GLVFXVVLRn KHOG Ey KHDGVHW FRnFOXGHG.)

7H( &2857: LDGLHV DnG JHnWOHPHn RI WKH MXUy, , NnRw

wH KDYHn'W EHHn DW WKLV YHUy ORnJ, EXW wH'UH JRLnJ WR WDNH D

EULHI UHFHVV DW WKLV WLPH. 6R yRX FDn UHWXUn WR WKH

GHOLEHUDWLRn URRP DnG wRXOG, DJDLn, DGPRnLVK yRX WKDW yRX DUH

FDXWLRnHG VWLOO nRW WR GLVFXVV WKLV FDVH DPRnJVW yRXUVHOYHV RU
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wLWK DnyRnH HOVH, nRW WR UHDG RU OLVWHn WR Dny UHSRUWV Ln WKH

SUHVV RU PHGLD, DnG nRW WR IRUP RU H[SUHVV Dny RSLnLRn Rn WKH

FDVH XnWLO LW LV ILnDOOy VXEPLWWHG WR yRX.

6R OHW'V WDNH D EULHI UHFHVV DnG wH'OO EH EDFN DW LW

VKRUWOy.

7KDnN yRX.

(-XUy RXW DW 10:10 D.P.)

7H( &2857: 3OHDVH EH VHDWHG.

LHW PH ILUVW DGGUHVV WKH LVVXH RI WKH LnWHUVWDWH nH[XV

H[SHUW.

0y WySLFDO SUDFWLFH LV WR UXOH VSHFLILFDOOy Rn LW HYHn

wKHn WKHUH LVn'W Dn REMHFWLRn. , NnRw WKDW'V SUREDEOy

H[WUHPHOy -- WKDW'V SUREDEOy XnnHFHVVDUy, EXW WKH 6HYHnWK

&LUFXLW KDG VRPH FDVH ODw VHYHUDO yHDUV DJR WKDW VXJJHVWV WKDW

HYHn wKHn WKHUH LVn'W Dn REMHFWLRn, D FRXUW VKRXOG SURSHUOy

UXOH Rn WKDW VXEMHFW. 6R OHW PH MXVW GR WKDW IRU WKH UHFRUG,

HYHn WKRXJK LW'V nRW FRnWHVWHG DnG , WKLnN WKHUH'V DEVROXWHOy

nR LVVXH DERXW 6SHFLDO $JHnW -RKnVRn'V TXDOLILFDWLRnV WR RSLnH

DnG WKH UHOHYDnFH RI KLV RSLnLRn.

6R, EULHIOy, WKH DGPLVVLELOLWy RI H[SHUW WHVWLPRny LV

JRYHUnHG Ey 5XOH 702 DnG DDuEHUt. HHUH, 6SHFLDO $JHnW -RKnVRn

LV wLWK $7). HLV WHVWLPRny, REYLRXVOy, DV WR LnWHUVWDWH nH[XV

RI WKH ILUHDUP LV KHOSIXO EHFDXVH WKDW LV Dn HOHPHnW RI WKH

FKDUJH, DnG WKH 6HYHnWK &LUFXLW KDV FRnFOXGHG LW'V Dn

DSSURSULDWH VXEMHFW IRU H[SHUW WHVWLPRny, FRnVLVWHnW wLWK
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BURwnOHH. 6SHFLDO $JHnW -RKnVRn UHFLWHG KLV VXEVWDnWLDO

WUDLnLnJ DnG H[SHULHnFH Ln ILUHDUPV, LnFOXGLnJ KLV yHDUV RI

VHUYLFH, KLV H[SHULHnFH Ln KDnGOLnJ ILUHDUPV, DWWHnGLnJ WKH

nH[XV H[SHUW VFKRRO, PDLnWDLnLnJ FRnWDFW wLWK RWKHUV, RWKHU

H[SHUWV Ln WKH ILHOG DnG SHULRGLFDOV WR PDLnWDLn Dn

XnGHUVWDnGLnJ RI nH[XV, DnG KLV NnRwOHGJH RI LPSRUW-H[SHUW, DnG

DOVR LnGLFDWHV WKDW KH'V H[DPLnHG DSSUR[LPDWHOy D WKRXVDnG

ILUHDUPV.

6R , GR ILnG WKDW KLV RSLnLRnV DUH VXIILFLHnWOy

UHOLDEOH DV KH'V H[SODLnHG WKH SURFHVV Ey wKLFK KH'V DUULYHG DW

KLV RSLnLRnV.

HH'V DOVR H[SODLnHG WKH PHWKRGRORJy KH XVHG Ln

GHWHUPLnLnJ WKH RULJLn RI WKH ILUHDUP FRPLnJ IURP BUD]LO EDVHG

XSRn LWV PDUNLnJV DnG EDVHG XSRn WKH KLVWRUy, WKH VDOHV

KLVWRUy. 9HUy, YHUy WKRURXJK WHVWLPRny Ln WKDW UHVSHFW. ,'P

nRW VXUH ,'YH HYHU VHHn WHVWLPRny VR WKRURXJK Ln WHUPV RI

WUDFLnJ VWHS Ey VWHS KRw WKH JXn FDPH WR WKLV FRXnWUy DnG KRw

LW wHnW IURP BUD]LO WR 0LDPL WR ,OOLnRLV WR ,nGLDnD DnG WKHn WR

D SULYDWH RwnHU.

HH'V DOVR H[SUHVVHG Dn RSLnLRn WKDW LW'V D ILUHDUP DV

GHILnHG XnGHU WKH ODw EHFDXVH LW LV FDSDEOH RI H[SHOOLnJ D

SURMHFWLOH.

6R EDVHG XSRn DOO RI WKDW, , EHOLHYH WKDW KH'V

VXIILFLHnWOy TXDOLILHG, WKDW KLV RSLnLRn LV UHOHYDnW WR WKH

PDWWHUV EHIRUH WKLV MXUy, DnG WKDW KLV RSLnLRn LV UHOHYDnW
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EDVHG XSRn WKH PHWKRGRORJy WKDW KH'V HPSORyHG KHUH.

7KDW WDNHV XV WR WKH 5XOH 29.

6R KHUH'V Py UXOLnJ UHODWLYH WR WKH 5XOH 29 PRWLRn.

)HGHUDO 5XOH RI &ULPLnDO 3URFHGXUH 29(D) JRYHUnV

PRWLRnV IRU MXGJPHnW RI DFTXLWWDO. :KHn D GHIHnGDnW PRYHV IRU

MXGJPHnW RI DFTXLWWDO SXUVXDnW WR 5XOH 29, D FRXUW PXVW DVN

wKHWKHU HYLGHnFH H[LVWV IURP wKLFK Dny UDWLRnDO WULHU RI IDFW

FRXOG ILnG WKH HVVHnWLDO HOHPHnWV RI WKH FULPH EHyRnG D

UHDVRnDEOH GRXEW. &RnVLVWHnW wLWK UnitHd StDtHs v. HDFh,

H-D-F-K. 7KH PRYHPHnW IDFHV D nHDUOy LnVXUPRXnWDEOH KXUGOH

EHFDXVH FRXUWV FRnVLGHU WKH HYLGHnFH Ln WKH OLJKW PRVW

IDYRUDEOH WR WKH JRYHUnPHnW, DnG wLOO JUDnW WKH PRWLRn RnOy

wKHn WKH UHFRUG FRnWDLnV nR HYLGHnFH, UHJDUGOHVV RI KRw LW LV

wHLJKHG, IURP wKLFK WKH MXUy FRXOG ILnG JXLOW EHyRnG D

UHDVRnDEOH GRXEW. &RnVLVWHnW wLWK BODssingDPH. 7KXV, D

5XOH 29 PRWLRn LV JUDnWHG RnOy LI WKH UHFRUG LV GHYRLG RI

HYLGHnFH IURP wKLFK D MXUy FRXOG ILnG JXLOW. &RnVLVWHnW wLWK

PuOidR, 3-X-O-L-G-R.

0U. 6HDy KDV EHHn FKDUJHG wLWK RnH FRXnW RI IHORn Ln

SRVVHVVLRn RI D ILUHDUP Ln YLRODWLRn RI 922(J)(1). :H'UH

DOUHDGy IDPLOLDU wLWK WKH HOHPHnWV RI WKDW RIIHnVH. HH DUJXHV

WKDW WKH JRYHUnPHnW KDV IDLOHG WR SURYH WKHVH HOHPHnWV EHyRnG D

UHDVRnDEOH GRXEW. 5HVSHFWIXOOy, KRwHYHU, WKH &RXUW ILnGV WKDW

WKH JRYHUnPHnW KDV RIIHUHG VXIILFLHnW HYLGHnFH IURP wKLFK D

UHDVRnDEOH MXURU FRXOG ILnG EHyRnG D UHDVRnDEOH GRXEW WKDW
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0U. 6HDy XnODwIXOOy SRVVHVVHG D ILUHDUP DV D IHORn DnG LV

JXLOWy RI WKH RIIHnVH.

7KH ILUVW TXHVWLRn LV wKHWKHU 0U. 6HDy NnRwLnJOy

SRVVHVVHG D ILUHDUP Rn DERXW 'HFHPEHU 9WK RI ODVW yHDU.

7KHUH'V DPSOH HYLGHnFH IURP wKLFK LW FRXOG GR VR. $V WR WKH

FLUFXPVWDnFHV VXUURXnGLnJ KLV DUUHVW, 2IILFHU 2EHUOH WHVWLILHG

WKDW, XSRn VHDUFKLnJ KLV FDU, KH ORFDWHG D 9 PLOOLPHWHU SLVWRO

wLWK D 30-URXnG PDJD]LnH DV wHOO DV DnRWKHU PDJD]LnH Ln WKH

YHKLFOH. )XUWKHU, 0U. 6HDy VWDWHG WKH ILUHDUP wDV KLV GXULnJ

Dn LnWHUYLHw wLWK ODw HnIRUFHPHnW DnG JDYH GHWDLOV RI wKHn DnG

wKHUH KH ERXJKW WKH ILUHDUP. &RnVLVWHnW wLWK *RYHUnPHnW'V

([KLELW 11. 7KRVH SLHFHV RI HYLGHnFH FRXOG DOORw WKH MXUy WR

LnIHU WKDW 0U. 6HDy SRVVHVVHG WKH ILUHDUP.

6HFRnG, WKH JRYHUnPHnW SUHVHnWHG HYLGHnFH RI

0U. 6HDy'V SULRU IHORny FRnYLFWLRnV, nDPHOy, *RYHUnPHnW'V

([KLELW 13 WKURXJK 15, wKLFK DUH FHUWLILHG FRSLHV RI KLV

FRnYLFWLRnV IRU FULPHV SXnLVKDEOH Ey LPSULVRnPHnW IRU PRUH WKDn

RnH yHDU. 0U. 6HDy VHUYHG VHYHUDO VHnWHnFHV WKDW H[FHHGHG PRUH

WKDn RnH yHDU. $GGLWLRnDOOy, WKH JRYHUnPHnW SUHVHnWHG

WHVWLPRny DnG HYLGHnFH WKDW KH wDV VWLOO Rn VXSHUYLVHG UHOHDVH

IURP KLV PRVW UHFHnW IHORny FRnYLFWLRn DW WKH WLPH RI WKLV

DUUHVW IRU WKH XnGHUOyLnJ RIIHnVH Ln WKLV FDVH. 7KLV HYLGHnFH

DOORwV D MXUy WR FRnFOXGH WKDW 0U. 6HDy wDV D IHORn DW WKH WLPH

KH SRVVHVVHG WKH ILUHDUP.

7KLUG, WR HVWDEOLVK WKDW 0U. 6HDy NnHw KH wDV D IHORn
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DW WKH WLPH KH SRVVHVVHG WKH ILUHDUP, WKH JRYHUnPHnW KDV

GLVFXVVHG HDUOLHU DGPLWWHG HYLGHnFH RI KLV SULRU FRnYLFWLRnV

IURP wKLFK D MXUy FRXOG FRnIHU KH NnHw KH KDG SUHYLRXVOy EHHn

FRnYLFWHG RI D IHORny.

)XUWKHU, WKH JRYHUnPHnW DGPLWWHG HYLGHnFH WKDW

0U. 6HDy VLJnHG WKH FRnGLWLRnV RI KLV VXSHUYLVHG UHOHDVH RI KLV

PRVW UHFHnW FRnYLFWLRn, Ln wKLFK LW VWDWHV KH LV SURKLELWHG

IURP SRVVHVVLnJ D ILUHDUP. 0U. 6HDy DOVR VLJnHG WKH 3URMHFW

6DIH 1HLJKERUKRRGV OHWWHU, IXUWKHU UHLWHUDWLnJ WKDW DV D

FRnYLFWHG IHORn KH FRXOG nRW SRVVHVV D ILUHDUP. *RYHUnPHnW'V

([KLELW 17.

)RXUWK, 6SHFLDO $JHnW 5yDn -RKnVRn wLWK $7) WHVWLILHG

WKDW WKH wHDSRn PHHWV WKH IHGHUDO GHILnLWLRn RI D ILUHDUP DnG

LW wDV nRW PDnXIDFWXUHG Ln ,nGLDnD. HH H[SODLnHG YHUy

WKRURXJKOy wKHUH LW wDV PDnXIDFWXUHG, wKy KH KDG WKDW RSLnLRn,

DnG KRw LW WUDYHOHG ERWK WKURXJK LnWHUnDWLRnDO DnG LnWHUVWDWH

FRPPHUFH.

,n VXSSRUW RI KLV PRWLRn, WKH GHIHnGDnW DUJXHV WKDW

EDVHG XSRn WKH WHVWLPRny RI WKH RIILFHUV DnG WKH PRWLRn WR

VXSSUHVV ILOHG DW GRFNHW HnWUy 17 WKDW WKH JRYHUnPHnW KDV nRW

PHW LWV EXUGHn.

7KH &RXUW UHJDUGV WKHVH -- WKH &RXUW GRHV nRW GLVDJUHH

wLWK WKHVH -- WKH &RXUW GLVDJUHHV wLWK WKHVH DUJXPHnWV Ln OLJKW

RI WKH HYLGHnFH GLVFXVVHG KHUHLn, DnG VR EDVHG Rn DOO RI WKLV

HYLGHnFH, EHOLHYHV D UHDVRnDEOH MXUy FRXOG ILnG WKDW WKH
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197

HVVHnWLDO HOHPHnWV RI WKLV RIIHnVH KDYH EHHn SURYHn EHyRnG D

UHDVRnDEOH GRXEW. 6R WKH &RXUW GHnLHV WKH 5XOH 29 PRWLRn IRU

MXGJPHnW RI DFTXLWWDO DnG, OLNHwLVH, GHnLHV WKH REMHFWLRn

VHHNLnJ WR VXSSUHVV WKH VHDUFK DnG VHL]XUH, FRnVLVWHnW wLWK LWV

SUHYLRXV UXOLnJ.

2NDy. 6R XnOHVV ,'P PLVVLnJ VRPHWKLnJ, wKDW , wRXOG

SURSRVH WR GR LV WR EULnJ WKH MXUy EDFN DW VRPH SRLnW. *LYH

yRX D IHw PLnXWHV WR SUHSDUH IRU FORVLnJ. BULnJ WKH MXUy EDFN.

$VN yRX, 0U. -RnHV, LI yRX KDYH Dny HYLGHnFH WR SUHVHnW. ,

DVVXPH WKH DnVwHU LV VWLOO nR"

05. -21(6: ,W LV.

7H( &2857: 7KHn yRX wLOO UHVW. 7KHn wH'OO JR

VWUDLJKW LnWR FORVLnJ DUJXPHnWV. ,'OO EHJLn wLWK WKH UHDGLnJ

RI SUHOLPLnDUy LnVWUXFWLRnV. , WKLnN , UHDG 1 WKURXJK 20, WKHn

EUHDN IRU FORVLnJ, DnG WKHn UHDG WKH ODVW IRXU LnVWUXFWLRnV

EHIRUH WKH MXUy wLOO GHOLEHUDWH. 6R WKDW'V Py SODn.

0V. 'RnnHOOy, DUH yRX Rn ERDUG wLWK WKDW"

06. '211(LLY: :H DUH, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: $nyWKLnJ EHIRUH wH EUHDN"

06. '211(LLY: 1R, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 0U. -RnHV"

05. -21(6: 1R, YRXU HRnRU.

7H( &2857: 2NDy. LHW'V WDNH D IHw PLnXWHV, DJDLn,

MXVW VR yRX FDn JHW UHDGy IRU FORVLnJ DUJXPHnW. LHW

0U. 6FKUDGHU NnRw wKHn yRX'UH UHDGy WR JR DnG WKHn wH'OO
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